## Divergent Mating Behavior and the Evolution of Reproductive Isolation

by

## Yu-San Yang

B.S. in Life Sciences, National Taiwan University, 2013

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2020

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

### DIETRICH SCHOOL OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

This dissertation was presented

by

## Yu-San Yang

It was defended on

April 29, 2020

and approved by

Dr. Walter P. Carson, Associate Professor, University of Pittsburgh, Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Mark Rebeiz, Associate Professor, University of Pittsburgh, Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Martin Turcotte, Assistant Professor, University of Pittsburgh, Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Maria R. Servedio, Assistant Professor, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Department of Biology

Dissertation Advisor: Dr. Corinne L. Richards-Zawacki, Associate Professor, University of Pittsburgh, Department of Biological Sciences Copyright © by Yu-San Yang

2020

#### **Divergent Mating Behaviors and the Evolution of Reproductive Isolation**

Yu-San Yang, Ph.D.

University of Pittsburgh, 2020

Sexual selection can cause rapid co-divergence of mating traits and mate preferences, generate reproductive barriers among individuals bearing divergent mating traits, and potentially lead to speciation. In my dissertation, I focused on two emerging topics that challenge this traditional speciation-by-mate-choice paradigm. First, sexual selection encompasses both mate preferences and intrasexual competition, yet speciation research disproportionally focused on the role of the former. Second, sexual behaviors are usually assumed to be genetically inherited, but they may often be shaped by learning instead, which can generate very different evolutionary trajectories for traits and preferences. Using studies of the highly polymorphic strawberry poison frogs (Oophaga pumilio), I demonstrated how incorporating (i) male-male competition and (ii) behavioral learning can enhance our understanding of the potential for speciation to be driven by sexual selection. I first characterized behavioral patterns across a natural contact zone between color morphs and showed that coloration (the divergent mating trait) mediates both female choice and male-male competition. Females often prefer males of their own (local) color over a novel color, and males, when defending territories, are more aggressive against their own color morph. I then tested how these color-mediated female preferences and male aggression biases interact to determine mating patterns. I conducted a controlled breeding experiment in which male-male competition and female mate choice act either in same or in opposing directions. In this study, females reproduced more often with the territorial male over the non-territorial male, regardless of the males' coloration. This challenges the common assumption that knowledge of female preferences for male mating traits is sufficient to predict mating patterns. Finally, I discovered that

learning from mothers during the tadpole stage shapes both female mate preferences and male aggression biases in *O. pumilio*. Based on this finding, I built a population genetic model and used it to demonstrate a simple and elegant mechanism by which sexual selection alone has the potential to initiate speciation. My research highlights the importance of considering interactions between mate choice, intrasexual competition, and behavioral learning, for studies of mating trait evolution and sexual selection's role in speciation.

# **Table of Contents**

Prefacexii
1.0 Chapter 1: Introduction1
2.0 Chapter 2: Poison Frog Color Morphs Express Assortative Mate Preferences in
Allopatry but not Sympatry
2.1 Chapter Summary5
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods
2.3.1 Study Species9
2.3.2 Study Animals10
2.3.3 Experiment Design and Protocol11
2.3.4 Statistical Analyses14
2.4 Results 15
2.5 Discussion 19
2.6 Acknowledgements 24
3.0 Chapter 3: Poison Frog Color Morphs Express Assortative Aggression Biases in
Allopatry but not Sympatry 25
3.1 Chapter Summary25
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Study Species
3.3.2 Study Populations30

3.3.3 Experimental Design and Protocol	
3.3.4 Male Agonistic Behaviors	
3.3.5 Color Quantification	35
3.3.6 Statistical Analyses	35
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Does Male Aggression Pattern Vary with Population Morph	Frequency?37
3.4.2 Do Males Bias Aggression toward Intruders of Their Ow	n Color in the
Polymorphic Populations?	41
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Acknowledgements	
4.0 Chapter 4: Male-male Territorial Contest Limits the Expression of Assor	tative Mate
Preferences in a Polymorphic Poison Frog	49
4.1 Chapter Summary	49
4.2 Introduction	50
4.3 Methods	
4.3.1 Study Species	54
4.3.2 Experiment Design	55
4.3.3 Animals	55
4.3.4 Determining Male Territoriality	57
4.3.5 Mating Trials	57
4.3.6 Statistical Analyses	59
4.4 Results	60
4.4.1 Analysis of Mating Patterns	61

52
53
57
58
<b>58</b>
<u>59</u>
12
12
2
/4
/5
/6
16
16
7
19
30
30
32
35
36
36
36

Appendix A.1.2 Acoustic Playback86
Appendix A.2 Quantitative Photograph Color Scores
Appendix A.3 Sample Size Breakdown 88
Appendix A.4 Analyses Excluding Samples with Conspecific Interactions
Appendix A.4.1 Does Male Aggression Pattern Vary with Population Morph
Frequency?
Appendix A.4.2 Do Males Bias Aggression toward Intruders of Their Own Color
in the Polymorphic Populations?90
Appendix A.5 Supplemental Results
Appendix B Supplemental Information for Chapter 594
Appendix B.1 Recursion Equations94
Appendix B.2 Numerical Analyses95
Appendix B.2.1 Basic Model: Symmetrical Selection
Appendix B.2.2 Model Extension: Asymmetrical Selection
Appendix B.3 Effects of Starting Frequency100
Appendix B.4 Incomplete Imprinting103
Appendix B.4.1 Behavioral Pattern of the Individuals that Fail to Imprint103
Appendix B.4.2 Modeling Incomplete Imprinting103
Bibliography

## List of Tables

Table 2-1 GLMM: number of approaches among all populations
Table 2-2 GLMM: association times among all populations    17
Table 2-3 LMM: association times at Dolphin Bay 18
Table 3-1 GLMs: male agonistic behaviors
Table 3-2 GLMs: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations      42
Table 4-1 Sample size breakdown for the breeding experiment
Table 5-1 Proportional association time for the three groups of rearing treatment
Table 5-2 Proportional approaches for the three groups of rearing treatment
Appendix Table 1 PCA for quantantative color scores
Appendix Table 2 Sample size breakdown for the simulated intrusion experiment
Appendix Table 3 GLMs: male agonistic behaviors
Appendix Table 4 GLM: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations
(excluding trials with conspecific interactions)91
Appendix Table 5 GLMs: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations (color
scores, excluding trials with conspecific interactions)91
Appendix Table 6 GLM: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations (color
scores)
Appendix Table 7 GLMs: likelihood of tracking
Appendix Table 8 GLMs: likelihood of approaching
Appendix Table 9 GLMs: likelihood of calling
Appendix Table 10 GLMs: likelihood of challenging93

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Color pattern diversity among Bocas del Toro <i>O. pumilio</i> populations 2
Figure 2-1 Transition zone between red and blue morphs9
Figure 2-2 Color-mediated female preferences16
Figure 3-1 Simulated intrusion setup
Figure 3-2 Color-mediated male-male aggression biases
Figure 4-1 Breeding experiment design and results
Figure 4-2 Reproductive timing results
Figure 5-1 <i>O. pumilio</i> rearing experiment
Figure 5-2 Polymorphism stability and trait-preference association
Appendix Figure 1 Visual properties of the intruder models
Appendix Figure 2 By-eye color categories plotted on quantitative color space
Appendix Figure 3 Trait 1 phenotype frequency at stable polymorphic equilibrium
Appendix Figure 4 Proportion of maximum linkage disequalibrium ( $D_{cor}$ ) at stable
polymorphic equilibrium
Appendix Figure 5 Effects of starting frequency on polymorphism maintenance

#### Preface

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor Corinne Richards-Zawacki for her patient support and mentorship during my six years in her lab, for letting me think and work independently but lending a hand when I need it, and for always being more confident in me than I am in myself. I thank all my scientific mentors that have helped me during my PhD study and made me a better researcher. To Matthew Dugas, for showing me the ropes during my first field season in Panama, and for pushing me to write clearly and efficiently. To Maria Servedio, my external dissertation committee member, who hosted me for a month in her lab at UNC Chapel Hill and patiently guided me to build my first population genetic model. To my present dissertation committee (Walter Carson, Mark Rebeiz, Martin Turcotte) and all former members (Nathan Morehouse, Jonathan Pruitt, Elizabeth Derryberry, Jordan Karubian), who have always urged me to "find the big question" and place my research in a broader framework in ecology and evolutionary biology. Thank you to the Pitt E&E community for the vibrant energy, scientific feedback, and career development advice. Thank you to the staff at Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute in Bocas del Toro, especially Plinio Gondola, for their logistical help and occasional fieldwork assistance during my field seasons in Panama.

Thank you to my family and friends for cheering for my successes and supporting me through the stress and anxiety that comes with getting a PhD. To my parents, Yi-Ching & Yi-Ching Yang (yes, they have the exact same name), and my brother Eric Yang, for the unwavering support and encouragement through the whole process. Memories of being back home in Taiwan and anticipation for the next visit were always an important emotional anchor for me to bravely carry on with all the uncertainties. To Jill Lin, for being the one that made me a warmer and happier

person. To Michelle Spicer, for being a wonderful friend and my writing buddy at Pitt, whose beautiful personality and brilliant mind has made my PhD life so much brighter and so much more productive. To my volleyball mates at Pittsburgh, especially Shoou-I Yu, Mini Chen, Ming Hsiao, Allie Chang, and Chien-Hua Pan, for the weekly volleyball games and after-work dinners that kept me sane and healthy throughout the grad school years. To coffee and bubble tea, for reliably bringing me a little spark of joy even on a terrible day.

#### **1.0 Chapter 1: Introduction**

Understanding how new species are formed is a fundamental goal in evolutionary biology. Sexual selection can cause rapid co-divergence of mating signals and mate preferences, and can restrict gene flow between the divergent phenotypes (Lande, 1981; Kirkpatrick, 1982; West-Eberhard, 1983). This process represents the core mechanism of speciation-by-sexual-selection theory (Panhuis *et al.*, 2001; Ritchie, 2007), and numerous empirical examples of co-divergence in mating traits and preferences among populations have lent it support (Scordato *et al.*, 2014). However, sexual selection encompasses both female mate choice and male-male competition, and the role of male-male competition has been largely ignored in speciation research (Qvarnström *et al.*, 2012; Tinghitella *et al.*, 2017; Lipshutz, 2018). Moreover, despite the established importance of learning in the development of behavior, mate preferences are traditionally considered genetically inherited in speciation models (Ritchie, 2007; Verzijden *et al.*, 2012; Servedio & Boughman, 2017). It is now increasingly clear that both **intrasexual competition** and **behavioral learning** can be important components of sexual selection, but their implications for the evolution for population divergence and speciation remains unclear.

My dissertation examines how mate choice and intrasexual competition interact to effect reproductive isolation, and the importance of behavioral learning in mediating the process. I integrate field, laboratory, and mathematical approaches to examine the mechanisms that shape divergent sexual behaviors, and the evolutionary and ecological consequences of such divergence. The strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) shows evidence of recent, rapid divergence in a sexually selected trait (color) among populations (**Figure 1-1**; Summers *et al.*, 2003). Using field and lab behavioral assays, I showed that coloration is under selection due to both mate choice and

intrasexual competition. Females often prefer males of their own (local) color over novel color morphs (i.e. assortative preference, **2.0**); and males, when defending territories, often bias their aggression toward other males of their own color morph (i.e. assortative aggression, **3.0**). Taking advantage of a natural contact zone, I also showed that these assortative behaviors can break down when divergent populations come into secondary contact. This suggests that the hypothesis that divergent preferences restrict gene flow upon secondary contact (Panhuis *et al.*, 2001; Kraaijeveld *et al.*, 2011) may not always be accurate, and we need to further investigate the social and environmental factors that dictate these behavioral patterns.



Figure 1-1 Color pattern diversity among Bocas del Toro O. pumilio populations

Top right, species range of O. pumilio across Nicaragua, Costa Rica and Panama. The location pin indicates the Bocas del Toro archipelago. Left, color-monomorphic populations are labelled with a solid dot and an exemplar of the color morph is shown next to the respective dot. Sympatric color- polymorphic populations are labelled with a circled dot, and exemplars of the color variants are shown on the right. Color variation at Bastimentos West (Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011) is discrete, whereas color variation at Dolphin Bay (Dugas *et al.*, 2015; Yang *et al.*, 2016) and Rio Uyama (Summers *et al.*, 2003) is continuous. Photographs by V. Prémel, J. P. Lawrence, S. A. Echeverri, I. J. Wang and Y.Y. Map data 2018, Google.

Recent studies have proposed two main roles of male-male competition in the evolution of reproductive isolation: i) maintaining sexual trait and preference polymorphism in the face of gene flow, and ii) limiting assortative mating when males of the non-preferred phenotype are superior competitors. Both scenarios rely on the assumption that male-male competition can limit the expression of divergent female mate preferences. I used a controlled breeding experiment to test this critical but rarely tested assumption (4.0). I housed females with two differently-coloured males, and compared reproductive patterns when the more attractive male was the territory holder *versus* when he was the non-territorial male. Females mated primarily with the territory winner, regardless of his coloration, suggesting that when a choice must be made between the two, the results of male-male competition overrides female preferences for male mating traits. This challenges the common assumption that knowledge of female preferences is sufficient to predict mating patterns, and further emphasizes the importance of male-male competition the evolution of reproductive isolation.

Finally, I tested the potential for learning to shape male and female behavior (**5.0**). The biparental care exhibited by *O. pumilio* provides ample opportunity for tadpoles to observe their parents' colors. Using a controlled rearing experiment, I showed that maternal imprinting shapes both female mate preferences ('sexual imprinting') and male aggression biases ('rival imprinting') in *O. pumilio*. Tadpoles likely learn their mother's coloration while begging for her to deposit trophic eggs (the tadpoles' only food source) and use it as a template for mate preference and rival aggression biases expressed in adulthood. This constitutes the first evidence of imprinting in an amphibian. To explore the evolutionary implications of these imprinted behaviors, I built a population genetics model, and showed that imprinted male aggression biases can help maintain the coexistence of different color morphs in sympatry while imprinted female preferences reduce

gene flow among the color morphs. Contrary to previous work suggesting that the conditions needed for speciation driven by sexual selection are unlikely to occur, my work presents a simple and elegant mechanism by which sexual selection alone has the potential to initiate speciation.

My dissertation work highlights the interacting roles of mate choice, intrasexual selection, and behavioral learning in mating trait evolution and speciation. While my research has focused on *O. pumilio*, this frog is just one of the many species representing a diverse set of animal taxa where sexually selected traits are used for both mate choice and intrasexual competition (Andersson, 1994; Berglund *et al.*, 1996; McCullough *et al.*, 2016). Imprinting has also been shown to shape behavioral biases in both contexts in many taxa (Hansen & Slagsvold, 2003; Dijkstra *et al.*, 2008a; Verzijden *et al.*, 2009, 2012). Thus, my work likely has broad implications for understanding the role sexual selection in speciation.

# 2.0 Chapter 2: Poison Frog Color Morphs Express Assortative Mate Preferences in Allopatry but not Sympatry

The contents in this chapter are adapted from the following publication:

Yang, Y., Richards-Zawacki, C.L., Devar, A. & Dugas, M.B. 2016. Poison frog color morphs express assortative mate preferences in allopatry but not sympatry. *Evolution*. 70: 2778–2788. doi: 10.1111/evo.13079

#### 2.1 Chapter Summary

The concurrent divergence of mating traits and preferences is necessary for the evolution of reproductive isolation via sexual selection, and such coevolution has been demonstrated in diverse lineages. However, the extent to which assortative mate preferences are sufficient to drive reproductive isolation in nature is less clear. Natural contact zones between lineages divergent in traits and preferences provide exceptional opportunities for testing the predicted evolutionary consequences of such divergence. The strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) displays extreme color polymorphism in and around the young Bocas del Toro archipelago. In a transition zone between red and blue allopatric lineages, we asked whether female preferences diverged along with coloration, and whether any divergent preferences persist in a zone of sympatry. When choosing among red, blue and phenotypically intermediate males, females from monomorphic red and monomorphic blue populations both expressed assortative preferences. However, red, blue, and intermediate females from the contact zone all preference red males, suggesting that divergent preferences may be insufficient to effect behavioral isolation. Our results highlight the complexity of behavioral isolation, and the need for studies that can reveal the circumstances under which divergent preferences do and do not contribute to speciation.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

Isolated populations of the same species can differ markedly in behavior, morphology, and physiology (Kraaijeveld et al., 2011; Miller & Svensson, 2014; Brodersen et al., 2015). One potential consequence of such differentiation is a reduction in the probability that lineages will interbreed, an initial step in the process of speciation (Rundle & Nosil, 2005; Kraaijeveld et al., 2011). The evolution of traits important in mate choice and acquisition may be especially likely to effect reproductive isolation (Panhuis et al., 2001; Gage et al., 2002; Arnqvist & Rowe, 2005; Ritchie, 2007; Kraaijeveld et al., 2011), and numerous studies have demonstrated the co-evolution of mate preferences and courtship traits (Scordato et al., 2014). While such divergence in preferences and traits is necessary for the evolution of behavioral reproductive isolation (Panhuis et al., 2001; Arnqvist & Rowe, 2005; Ritchie, 2007; Kraaijeveld et al., 2011), differentiation alone may not be sufficient to drive behavioral isolation (Dougherty & Shuker, 2015; Edward, 2015). When lineages are sympatric, gene flow between lineages can occur when preferences are plastic and altered by experience (Jennions & Petrie, 1997), and when the costs of choosing constrain the extent to which mate preference actually determines mate choice (Irwin & Price, 1999; Hebets & Vink, 2007; Rodríguez et al., 2013). Preferences for hybrid phenotypes and/or the mating decisions of any hybrids can similarly drive gene flow between lineages (Culumber et al., 2014).

Lineages that are polytypic in sexual communication traits provide exceptional opportunities to test for the co-evolution of traits and preferences and to test the hypothesis that such co-evolution can drive reproductive isolation (Panhuis *et al.*, 2001; Ritchie, 2007; Twomey *et al.*, 2016). The strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) is remarkably polytypic in and around the Bocas del Toro Archipelago of Panama (**Figure 1-1**), which reached its current conformation 1 - 9 kya (Gehara *et al.*, 2013). This region is largely shaped by the rise and fall of sea-level, and hence *O. pumilio* populations have likely experienced several periods of connectivity and vicariance. This frog displays a red body with blue or black limbs throughout most of its range, but in Bocas del Toro, isolated populations display coloration spanning the visual spectrum (Summers *et al.*, 2003; Pröhl *et al.*, 2007; Wang & Shaffer, 2008; Hauswaldt *et al.*, 2011). While minor variation may be present within islands, the most striking color variation (e.g., distinct 'morphs' of different dominant color) occurs among even the most recently-isolated island populations, supporting the hypothesis of rapid divergence in allopatry (Gehara *et al.*, 2013).

As in other poison frogs (Dendrobatidae), coloration of the toxic *O. pumilio* is hypothesized to function as an aposematic signal (Darst, 2006; Saporito *et al.*, 2007), but may also serve in intersexual communication (as similar signals do in other systems: Jiggins *et al.*, 2001, 2004; Nokelainen *et al.*, 2011; Twomey *et al.*, 2014, 2016). Females from most *O. pumilio* populations tested spend more time associating with males displaying coloration typical of the female's population (Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008, 2009; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011). Because there is no evidence of post-mating reproductive isolation among Bocas del Toro *O. pumilio* lineages (Summers *et al.*, 2004; Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015), these preferences seem the most likely mechanism to prevent gene flow (Panhuis *et al.*, 2001; as is common in young divergences: Arnqvist & Rowe, 2005; Ritchie, 2007;

Kraaijeveld *et al.*, 2011). However, remaining untested is the extent to which courtship preferences drive reproductive isolation in sympatry, the key prediction of a speciation-by-sexual-selection argument.

While most distinct O. pumilio color morphs occur only in allopatry, there are a few reported cases of sympatry (Summers et al., 2003; Dugas et al., 2015), and such populations allow for tests of the hypothesized role of female mate choice in driving and/or maintaining phenotypic diversity (Twomey et al., 2014, 2016). In one polymorphic population, there is some evidence for asymmetric reproductive isolation in the wild, and female preference patterns suggest reinforcement (Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011; Richards-Zawacki et al., 2012). However, because the morphs from this polymorphic population do not occur in allopatry today, a full comparison of traits and preferences across a transition zone is not possible (Richards-Zawacki et al., 2012). Here, we address this by comparing female preferences through a phenotypic transition zone in which a polymorphic population occurs between two allopatric, phenotypically distinct, populations of O. pumilio (Figure 2-1). We began by testing the prediction that females in allopatric populations would prefer males with local coloration. We then asked whether and to what extent morphs are behaviorally isolated in the transition zone by characterizing female preferences of both "pure" phenotypes (individuals phenotypically similar to those from allopatric populations) and the co-occurring phenotypic intermediates. Together, these results will increase our understanding of how phenotypic diversity is maintained and the conditions under which phenotypic divergence does and does not lead to reproductive isolation.



Figure 2-1 Transition zone between red and blue morphs

Map showing the transition zone between red and blue populations of *Oophaga pumilio* in the Bocas del Toro Archipelago, Panama. Pie charts show the relative red, blue and phenotypically intermediate morph frequencies at each location.

#### 2.3 Methods

### 2.3.1 Study Species

*Oophaga pumilio* is a small (~2cm snout-vent length), diurnal terrestrial frog that occurs in lowland forests along the Caribbean side of Central America from Nicaragua to Panama. Males defend territories from which they court females, and females sample males in and around their own, larger, home ranges; both sexes mate multiply (Pröhl & Hödl, 1999). Following successful courtship, females lay a clutch of ~5 eggs in the leaf litter, where males may tend the clutch, moistening it daily. Once eggs hatch, one parent, typically but not always the female (Weygoldt, 1980; Killius & Dugas, 2014), transports tadpoles to water-filled leaf axils. The female then provisions her tadpoles with unfertilized eggs throughout their development (Dugas *et al.*, 2016; Dugas, 2018).

#### 2.3.2 Study Animals

In May–July 2011 and 2012, we collected male and female O. pumilio from three mainland populations in the Bocas del Toro region of Panama (Figure 2-1). As is the norm for O. pumilio, males and females at each site are similar in coloration (Summers et al., 2003). In a monomorphic population near Almirante (09°19'16.3"N, 82°29'49.5"W), frogs are phenotypically similar to ancestral populations (Wang & Shaffer, 2008), with red dorsal and ventral coloration and blue legs (Figure 2-1). Near Tierra Oscura, on the north face of the Aguacate peninsula (09°10'37.9"N, 82°16'00.4"W), frogs are monomorphic and entirely blue (Figure 2-1). Near Dolphin Bay, on the northern tip of the Aguacate peninsula (9°13'15.70"N, 82°13'5.60"W), both red and blue frogs are present, along with a range of phenotypic intermediates (Figure 2-1). A mark-recapture survey of 255 frogs at Dolphin Bay indicated that the population contains 6% red, 22% blue and 72% intermediate frogs (M. B. Dugas unpublished data). Although the genetic architecture of coloration in O. pumilio remains unknown, captive breeding of several color morphs has demonstrated that coloration in this species is heritable (Summers et al., 2004; Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015). The presence of phenotypic intermediates in the red-blue transition zone suggests that coloration is an additive trait in this case; in another polymorphic population, red vs. yellow coloration seems most likely to be controlled in large part by dominant/recessive alleles at a single locus (Richards-Zawacki et al., 2012). From Dolphin Bay, we collected frogs that were, by eye, at the extremes of red and blue or most 'intermediate'. Differences among these by-eye categories are perceivable in the frog's visual system and by-eye categorizations are equivalent to more quantitative methods in

this (Dugas *et al.*, 2015) and other (Richards-Zawacki *et al.*, 2013) polymorphic *O. pumilio* populations.

We immediately transported field-collected *O. pumilio* to the Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute's Bocas del Toro field station, where we maintained frogs in plastic enclosures (37 x 22 x 25 cm), separated by sex. Each enclosure housed at most 3 frogs, each of a different color, to allow identification of individuals. Frogs fed on insects (mostly *Drosophila spp.*) attracted to fruit placed in their enclosures, and were supplemented with vitamin-dusted termites. Enclosures also contained locally collected vegetation, and were misted daily to maintain humidity. So that we could match males for body size in behavioral assays (see below), we measured mass to the nearest 0.01g and snout-vent length to the nearest 0.1 mm within one day of capture. We released all individuals following the completion of the experiment.

#### 2.3.3 Experiment Design and Protocol

Following previous studies in *O. pumilio* (Maan & Cummings, 2008; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011), we tested the prediction that females would prefer to associate with males from the same population and/or of the same color using a three-way choice design under laboratory conditions. Each female was simultaneously presented with a male from Almirante (red with blue legs), a male from Tierra Oscura (entirely blue) and a male with intermediate coloration from Dolphin Bay.

The experimental arena was modified from a similar three-way choice test in Richards-Zawacki & Cummings (2011). The entire arena was a plastic container ( $60 \times 60 \times 45$  cm) opaque on the sides and covered on top with plastic mesh to allow behavioral observations from above (**Figure 2-2A**). The three stimulus males were individually restricted under clear plastic domes (r = 3.5 cm H = 4.5 cm) placed equidistant from each other; the position of males from each population was determined haphazardly. During behavioral observations, the focal female was allowed to move freely through the entire arena. All observations were conducted in a dark room, with arenas illuminated by two 60-W halogen bulbs (A19, GE Reveal, USA) and four 75-W UV lights (A19 Blacklight, Koninklijke Philips N.V., Netherlands) covered by two green-blue gel filters (Lee 728 + CyanGel 4315) to generate lighting conditions similar to that on the forest floor (*sensu* Maan & Cummings, 2008). Males presented simultaneously in trials were matched for snout-vent length (within 1 mm). Males were used in multiple behavioral assays to decrease the total number of animals used in the experiments, but were swapped for newly caught individuals every 7 days to alleviate the possibility of color change in captivity (Summers *et al.*, 2003). Size-matched trios of males were formed upon the day of capture, and remained together throughout the week of experiment. On each experimental day, a male trio was chosen at random, used for assays of four consecutive females, then swapped for a new, randomly selected trio. Unfortunately, records of trio identity were not retained.

We cannot exclude the possibility that male traits other than color influenced the expression of female preference. We can, however, exclude body size, call, tactile, or chemical information, the other traits most likely to shape preference (Dreher & Pröhl, 2014), as we size-matched males, no males called during these trials (if they had, we would have excluded these trials from analysis *sensu* Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011), and males were confined under domes.

We placed males in the arena immediately prior to introducing a female. We then placed the female in the arena, equidistant from all three males (Fig. 2), isolated under a dome that was covered with a black visual barrier to prevent her from seeing the males. After 5 minutes, we removed the visual barrier (but not the transparent dome) for 2 minutes before finally lifting the dome from over the female. We observed female behavior for 15 minutes after she first demonstrated interest in a male, operationally defined as approaching within a 4 cm (~2 body lengths) interaction zone while also facing the male (to distinguish interactions from non-courtship movement, *sensu* Maan & Cummings, 2008). If a female failed to demonstrate interest in a male within 15 minutes of her dome being lifted, we terminated the trial and did not include this 'non-responsive' female in further trials or further analyses (*sensu* Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008, 2009; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011). To avoid any bias introduced by the placement of males, we ran each responsive female through a second trial immediately after the first, rotating the position of males. If a female showed interest in the first but not the second 15 minutes trial, we terminated the experiment and re-tested the female on a different day.

During the total 30 minutes of observation, we quantified i) association time, defined as the cumulative time the focal female spent in each of the interaction zones surrounding each male's dome, and ii) approaches, defined as the number of times the focal female oriented towards and entered each interaction zone. These two female behaviors we recorded are typically predicted to be positively associated with the probability that a female will mate with a male in the wild (Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008, 2009; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011); consistent with this assumption, *O. pumilio* courtship in the wild is more likely to result in mating if the female stays in close physical proximity to the male (Yang *et al.*, 2019a). We used total association time and approaches during two 15 minute trials for all analyses. Our total sample of responsive females included 30 from Almirante, 29 from Tierra Oscura, and 90 females from Dolphin Bay (30 each of red, blue, and intermediate phenotypes).

#### 2.3.4 Statistical Analyses

To test for female preferences among the three males presented to her simultaneously, we used generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) with female identity included as a random effect (details below). We tested the main effects of female population-of-origin (Almirante, Tierra Oscura, Dolphin Bay), stimulus male color (red, blue, intermediate) and the interaction between these two terms. When the interaction term was significant, we separated the three female populations for further analysis, testing only the effect of male color for the two monomorphic populations (Almirante, Tierra Oscura) and the effects of male color, female color and their interaction in Dolphin Bay models. All analyses were performed in R 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2019).

We fit 'approaches' to a GLMM with negative binominal error structure (data were overdispersed when fitted with Poisson) using the glmmADMB package (Skaug *et al.*, 2011). We tested the significance of main effects using the 'Anova' function in the car package, which compares overall model fit with and without a particular effect. We used Tukey's post hoc tests for pairwise comparisons of approaches to the three stimulus male colors. We fitted 'association time' to a linear mixed model (LMM) using the lme4 package (Bates *et al.*, 2014). Because of non-normality of residuals, for hypothesis testing we bootstrapped estimated 95% confidence intervals of the fixed effects and their interaction terms using 5000 iterations. We applied a semiparametric bootstrapping approach using the 'bootMer' function in the boot package (Canty & Ripley, 2012). The LMM was fitted with the Nelder Mean option in 'lmer' to improve performance of the semiparametric bootstrap routine. A main effects or interaction was considered significant if the bootstrapped 95% confidence interval did not overlap zero. For post hoc comparisons of the stimulus male colors, we repeated the semiparametric bootstrapping process with a zero intercept

model to generate confidence interval for all three levels; in this case, groups were considered significantly different if the 95% confidence intervals did not overlap.

Finally, we asked whether the strength of female approach and association preferences differed among populations. We first determined the preferred male color for females in each of the three populations (see Results). For each individual female, we modeled her interest in the male of the population-preferred color, including her 'overall preference' (sum or interest in all three males) as an offset term, as some females may be overall more interested in males than others. Approach preference strengths were compared using a generalized linear model (GLM) with quasi-Poisson error structure, including total approaches made by females as an offset term. To avoid normality assumptions, association preference strengths were compared by applying a permutation based linear model using the 'Imp' function of the ImPerm R package (Wheeler & Torchiano, 2010), including total association time as an offset term. Significance was determined using p-values calculated from 5000 iterations.

#### 2.4 Results

In our initial model that included all observations, we found a significant interaction between female population-of-origin and male phenotype with respect to both approaches (**Table 2-1**) and association time (**Table 2-2**). Because of this significant interaction, we then considered female behaviors separately for each female population-of-origin.

Almirante (red) females spent unequal amounts of time interacting with red, blue, and intermediate males. They spent significantly more time interacting with red males than with blue or intermediate males (bootstrapped 95% CI, red [242.42, 383.01], intermediate [45.84, 109.65],

blue [-44.55, 103.12], **Figure 2-2**). Almirante females also approached the three stimulus males with unequal frequency (GLMM,  $\chi 2 = 16.95$ , df = 2, p < 0.001), approaching red males more often than blue males (Tukey post hoc comparisons, red – intermediate: p = 0.212, red – blue: p < 0.001, intermediate – blue: p = 0.171, **Figure 2-2**).

Tierra Oscura (blue) females also spent unequal amounts of time interacting with red, blue, and intermediate males. They spent significantly more time interacting with blue males than with red or intermediate males (bootstrapped 95% CI, red [6.99, 137.16], intermediate [-16.22, 125.10], blue [167.83, 300.07], **Figure 2-2**). Tierra Oscura females also approached the three stimulus males with unequal frequencies (GLMM,  $\chi 2 = 17.15$ , df = 2, p < 0.001). They approached blue males more often than red or intermediate males (Tukey post hoc comparisons, blue – intermediate: p = 0.020, blue – red: p = 0.015, intermediate – red: p = 0.995, **Figure 2-2**).



Figure 2-2 Color-mediated female preferences

A: Experimental apparatus used in assays of female preference. During behavioral observations, the three stimulus males were confined under clear plastic domes, and the female was al- lowed to move freely in the arena. **B**: Time female *O. pumilio* from monomorphic red (Almirante, left), monomorphic blue (Tierra Oscura: right), and polymorphic (Dolphin Bay, middle) populations spent with red, blue, and intermediate stimulus males. Letter codes denote statistical significances (see main text for details).

#### Table 2-1 GLMM: number of approaches among all populations

Generalized linear mixed model evaluating the effects of stimulus male phenotype, female's population-of-origin and the interaction between the two terms on number of approaches. Stimulus male population-of-origin: red = Almirante, blue = Tierra Oscura, intermediate = Dolphin Bay.

Parameters	$\chi^2$	df	p-value
Male Phenotype	11.12	2	0.004
Female population-of-origin	15.17	2	< 0.001
Male Phenotype × Female population-of-origin	31.06	4	< 0.001

#### Table 2-2 GLMM: association times among all populations

Linear mixed model evaluating the effects of stimulus male phenotype, female's population-of-origin and the interaction between the two terms on association time. Confidence intervals (CI) were 95% percentile bootstrapped. Significance of a term was determined by if the bootstrapped confidence interval overlapped 0. Stimulus male population-of-origin: red = Almirante, blue = Tierra Oscura, intermediate = Dolphin Bay.

Parameters	2.5% CI	97.5% CI
Male Phenotype <sup>1</sup>		
intermediate	-292.23	-72,29
red	-277.27	-48.02
Female population-of-origin <sup>2</sup>		
Dolphin Bay	-222.80	-40.12
Almirante	-312.30	-84.74
Male Phenotype $\times$ Female population-of-origin		
intermediate $ imes$ Dolphin Bay	51.20	298.14
red  imes Dolphin Bay	197.38	466.99
intermediate  imes Almirante	109.68	417.42
red × Almirante	292.42	598.66

<sup>1</sup>male phenotype 'blue' is the baseline <sup>2</sup>population 'Tierra Oscura' is the baseline

In Dolphin Bay, the female color  $\times$  male color interaction term was significant for comparisons of association time (**Table 2-3**), so we tested association preference of each female phenotype separately. Despite a significant interaction term, females of all three colors expressed similar preferences. They spent more time associating with red males than with blue or intermediate males, though only for red and blue females were the 95% CIs non-overlapping for

red versus other male phenotypes (bootstrapped 95% CI, red females: red [128.40, 241.07], intermediate [15.03, 125.68], blue [35.06, 146.73]; intermediate females: red [198.01, 362.13], intermediate [46.49, 208.42], blue [73.84, 237.53]; blue females: red [280.77, 454.86], intermediate [7.17, 182.68], blue [-6.38, 170.09], **Figure 2-2**). The female color × male color interaction term was non-significant for comparisons of approaches (GLMM,  $\chi 2 = 0.952$ , df = 4, p = 0.917), and there was no main effect of female color for approaches (GLMM,  $\chi 2 = 0.32$ , df = 2, p = 0.852). Dolphin Bay females did, however, approach males of the three colors with different frequencies (GLMM,  $\chi 2 = 9.55$ , df = 2, p = 0.008). They approached red males more often than blue males, and approached intermediate males with frequencies between the two (Tukey post hoc comparisons, red – intermediate: p = 0.214, red – blue: p = 0.005, intermediate – blue: p = 0.736, **Figure 2-2**).

#### Table 2-3 LMM: association times at Dolphin Bay

Linear mixed model evaluating the effects of stimulus male phenotype, female phenotype and the interaction between the two terms on association time. Confidence intervals (CI) were 95% percentile bootstrapped. A term was considered significant if the bootstrapped confidence interval did not overlap 0. Stimulus male population-of-origin: red = Almirante, blue = Tierra Oscura, intermediate = Dolphin Bay.

Parameters	2.5% CI	97.5% CI
Male phenotype <sup>1</sup>		
intermediate	-101.60	126.62
red	174.97	401.91
Female phenotype <sup>2</sup>		
intermediate	-37.28	195.49
red	-103.74	129.09
Male phenotype × Female phenotype		
intermediate × intermediate	-209.09	128.07
red ×intermediate	-329.80	-2.80
intermediate × red	-197.44	125.50
red  imes red	-357.23	-32.52

<sup>1</sup>male phenotype 'blue' is the baseline <sup>2</sup>female phenotype 'blue' is the baseline

Females from the three populations did not differ in the strength of their preferences for their most preferred male color. The Dolphin Bay females' association preference for red is not significantly different in strength from the Almirante females' association preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' association preference for blue (permutation based linear model, df = 2, p = 0.24). Similarly, the Dolphin Bay females' approach preference for red is not significantly different from the Almirante females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for red or the Tierra Oscura females' approach preference for plue (GLM,  $LR\chi 2 = 0.837$ , df = 2, p = 0.658).

#### **2.5 Discussion**

The divergence of mating signals and preference for these signals are necessary for behavioral isolation between differentiated lineages (Panhuis *et al.*, 2001; Ritchie, 2007). We found evidence suggesting that coloration and female preferences have indeed diverged in concert in the monomorphic *O. pumilio* populations: females from the pure blue and red populations spent more time with males from their own population and approached them more often. In the transition zone, however, instead of favoring males similar to their own color, red, blue, and intermediate females all preferred red males, and this preference was similar in strength to the preferences observed monomorphic populations. While divergent preferences may or may not have contributed to the initial divergence in coloration between morphs, assortative preferences are expressed in allopatry but not in sympatry, and are thus unlikely to bring about reproductive isolation. Similar breakdowns of preferences expressed in allopatry have been documented in grasshoppers (*Chorthippus parallelus parallelus parallelus, C. p. erythropus*: Ritchie *et al.*, 1989), wood rats

(*Neotoma bryanti*, *N. lepida*: Shurtliff *et al.*, 2013) and fruit flies (*Drosophila subquinaria*, *D. recens*: Bewick & Dyer, 2014), indicating that divergent traits and preferences often do not contribute to reproductive isolation in sympatry.

Although allopatric divergence in coloration is the norm in O. pumilio (Gehara et al., 2013), distinguishing between primary divergence and secondary contact in a polymorphic zone is notoriously difficult (Barton & Hewitt, 1985). It is possible that the red-blue polymorphic population we studied resulted from i) secondary contact between red and blue lineages that diverged in allopatry, ii) the blue phenotype first arising in a monomorphic red population in the Northern tip and spreading to fixation on the rest of Aguacate peninsula, or iii) the red phenotype arising from within the monomorphic blue population in Northern Aguacate, independent of the Almirante red phenotype (i.e., a reversion to a phenotype similar to the ancestral one). Given the likely alternating periods of connectivity and vicariance in this archipelago, along with current distribution of distinct O. pumilio color morphs, secondary contact seems the most parsimonious explanation for the red-blue transition zone. Regardless of how the transition zone arose, the global preference for red in the polymorphic population suggests that color and color preference have evolved at different speeds in red and blue lineages. We cannot exclude the possibility that male traits other than color cause transition zone females to preferred red stimulus males (although our methods allow us to exclude body size, call and tactile or chemical cues). If this is the case, although unlikely, our results would similarly suggest that the unknown trait and corresponding preference evolved at different speeds.

Assuming secondary contact, it remains unclear why blue females in the polymorphic population expressed a preference different from blue females in the allopatric population, and why female preference in the polymorphic population converged on red. Myriad mechanisms can initiate the co-divergence of traits and preferences in isolated populations (e.g. sensory drive, ecological adaption, genetic drift), but the association between preference and trait loci can easily be broken down by recombination (Otto *et al.*, 2008; Servedio & Bürger, 2014). Recombination is likely in *O. pumilio* given that female preferences are clearly not absolute (Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008; Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015). The preference for red displayed by females from the polymorphic population may be advantageous if females accrue direct or indirect benefits from mating with a red male in Dolphin Bay, for example if red males are better brood tenders, or sire healthier tadpoles (a possibility suggested by amongmorph differences in male reproductive success and tadpole performance: Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015, 2016).

A universal preference for red in the transition zone could also emerge without any changes in the genetic mechanism underlying mate preferences. Within populations, *O. pumilio* females prefer brighter males over duller ones (Maan & Cummings, 2009), a pattern that might explain a universal preference for the brighter red males over the duller blue and intermediate ones in the transition zone (Rudh *et al.*, 2011; Maan & Cummings, 2012; Dreher & Pröhl, 2014). However, this explanation is inconsistent with the finding that females from several *O. pumilio* lineages (including the Tierra Oscura females tested here) prefer males from their own population even when offered males from brighter allopatric populations (Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008). It remains possible that color-based female preferences are shaped by the integration of independent assessments of brightness and color (i.e., hue) or that color is simply important along a gradient of familiar to unfamiliar. Mate preferences might also be plastic, with convergent female preferences in the polymorphic population reflecting shared natural and/or social environments (Svensson *et al.*, 2010; Kozak *et al.*, 2011); rather than selection on preferences driving the preference for red, this scenario allows females to learn that some phenotypes make better mates (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2013). Sexual imprinting based on social interactions can create positive frequency dependent selection that results in females shifting to prefer the most common male type (Laland, 1994; Rodríguez *et al.*, 2013). However, red is the rarest phenotype in Dolphin Bay (~6%), suggesting alternative mechanisms. Females may also simply learn to prefer the rarest male phenotype; while this 'rare-male effect' has been documented in several taxa, the proximate mechanism is poorly understood (Singh & Sisodia, 1999; Eakley & Houde, 2004). The effect of behavioral learning on population divergence is dependent upon the cue for learning, and the tutor from whom females learn (Verzijden *et al.*, 2012; Yeh & Servedio, 2015). Asymmetric responses to diverged sexual signals are commonly observed between young lineages (Hardwick *et al.*, 2013; Martin & Mendelson, 2013; Shurtliff *et al.*, 2013). Identifying the mechanisms shaping female preferences will be key to predicting the speed and direction of evolution when divergent lineages interact and understanding the full complement of selective pressures shaping and maintaining phenotypic diversity (Verzijden *et al.*, 2005).

The high frequency of intermediate individuals in the red-blue transition zone suggests frequent among-morph matings in the wild, and unless some cost prevents red males from mating with the phenotypically diverse females that prefer them, such gene flow should continue. There is no evidence that between lineage matings are any less productive than within-lineages matings in *O. pumilio* (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015) or that natural selection penalizes phenotypic intermediates (Richards-Zawacki *et al.*, 2013; Yeager, 2015). If female preferences for red males drive mate choice, the frequency of both red and intermediate phenotypes should increase over time, a possibility consistent with our repeated sampling at Dolphin Bay (Y. Yang and M. B. Dugas *unpublished data*) and one that can be tested with continued monitoring of the entire transition

zone. Equilibrium in morph frequency could be maintained by natural selection against red, for example if local predators must learn to associate the frogs' toxicity with color, red may be a less effective aposematic signal than the more common blue or intermediate morphs (Ruxton *et al.*, 2004). All current evidence suggests that no such natural selection costs occur in *O. pumilio* populations (Hegna *et al.*, 2013; Richards-Zawacki *et al.*, 2013; Dreher *et al.*, 2015; Yeager, 2015). However, it is possible that the results of all these studies are influenced by recent anthropogenic disturbance that has altered the selection regimes on aposematic coloration, resulting in collapse of trait and preference differentiation perhaps driven and/or maintained by natural selection.

The collapse of divergent within-species lineages is much more common than speciation (Rosenblum et al., 2012; Dynesius & Jansson, 2013), and asymmetry in the strength of assortative mating among lineages (Hardwick et al., 2013; Martin & Mendelson, 2013; Shurtliff et al., 2013) has been suggested as a common reason for collapse instead of progression to full reproductive isolation (Arnold et al., 1996; Servedio & Bürger, 2014). While divergent traits and preferences are necessary to drive reproductive isolation, they are not necessarily sufficient to do so or to move lineages towards speciation (Jennions & Petrie, 1997). Studies of Bocas del Toro O. pumilio lineages can continue to contribute to our understanding of the role of female preferences in driving behavioral isolation, in particular if focus is directed towards: i) identifying the proximate mechanisms by which female mate preferences are shaped, including the relative contribution of genetics and plasticity, ii) identifying the factors that shape and constrain the relationship between preferences expressed in the lab and actual mate choice in the wild, including the roles not only of female choice but also of male-male competition (Qvarnström et al., 2012; Tinghitella et al., 2017), and iii) continued monitoring of phenotype frequency in contact zones, the natural laboratory that allows the rare but critical test for reproductive isolation in nature. Our findings
highlight the complexity in the evolution of behavioral isolation, and the need for future studies to investigate the circumstances under which divergent preferences do and do not contribute to speciation.

# 2.6 Acknowledgements

We thank Deyvis Gonzalez, Ricardo Cossio, Justin Yeager, and numerous undergraduates for captive frog care, and Caitlin Wamelink for compiling data for these analyses. Simone Blomenkamp and Heike Pröhl generously shared unpublished analyses. Nathan Brouwer and Ling-Wan Chen provided suggestions and programming help on statistical analysis. Janette Boughman and two anonymous reviewers provided comments that greatly improved the quality of this manuscript. The Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute provided logistical support, and we particularly thank Gabriel Jacome and Plinio Gondola of the Bocas del Toro Research Station. This study was supported by a grant from the National Science Foundation (Award. No. 1146370). The Panamanian National Authority for the Environment (ANAM) provided research, collection and export permission. This work complied with IACUC protocols (Tulane University Nos. 0382 and 0382R and STRI No. 2007-17-12-15-07 and 2012-0519-2015).

# 3.0 Chapter 3: Poison Frog Color Morphs Express Assortative Aggression Biases in Allopatry but not Sympatry

The contents in this chapter are adapted from the following publication:

Yang, Y., Dugas, M.B., Sudekum, H.J., Murphy, S. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2018. Male-male aggression is unlikely to stabilize a poison frog polymorphism. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*. 31: 457–468. doi: 10.1111/jeb.13243.

# 3.1 Chapter Summary

Phenotypic polymorphism is common in animals, and the maintenance of multiple phenotypes in a population requires forces that act against homogenizing drift and selection. Malemale competition can contribute to the stability of a polymorphism when males compete primarily with males of the same phenotype. In and around a contact zone between red and blue lineages of the poison frog *Oophaga pumilio*, we used simulated territorial intrusions to test the non-exclusive predictions that males would direct more aggression toward males of (i) their own phenotype and/or (ii) the phenotype that is most common in their population. Males in the monomorphic red and blue populations that flank the contact zone were more aggressive toward simulated intruders that matched the local coloration. However, males in the two polymorphic populations biased aggression toward neither their own color nor the color most common in their population. In sympatry, the rarer color morph gains no advantage via reduced male-male aggression from territorial males in these *O. pumilio* populations, and so male aggression seems unlikely to stabilize color polymorphism on its own. More broadly, these results suggest that the potential for divergent male aggression biases to maintain phenotypic diversity depends on the mechanism(s) that generate the biases and the degree to which these mechanisms persist in sympatry.

# **3.2 Introduction**

Phenotypic polymorphism, the coexistence of multiple distinct phenotypes within a species, is widespread in nature (Ford, 1945; Gray & McKinnon, 2007). Enumerating the evolutionary mechanisms that can maintain phenotypic polymorphisms against the homogenizing forces of drift and selection is key to understanding trait evolution and the potential role of polymorphism in speciation (Smith, 1962; Gray & McKinnon, 2007). Assortative mating can facilitate reproductive isolation, and numerous studies of polymorphic taxa have demonstrated assortative female preferences that could result in assortative mating (Jennions & Petrie, 1997). However, assortative mating does not on its own maintain phenotypic polymorphism and may not be sufficient to drive speciation (Kirkpatrick & Ravigné, 2002; van Doorn *et al.*, 2004; Wellenreuther *et al.*, 2014). Male-male competition can also exert selection on phenotype and is often a key component of mate acquisition and thus mating patterns in the wild (Wong & Candolin, 2005; Hunt *et al.*, 2009). The potential for male-male competition to contribute to polymorphism maintenance and reproductive isolation has only recently received much attention (Seehausen & Schluter, 2004; Qvarnström *et al.*, 2012; Tinghitella *et al.*, 2017).

The coexistence of multiple male morphs that differ morphologically and/or behaviorally, has been observed in taxonomically diverse animals (Shuster, 2010). A common scenario is one where most males specialize in fighting, acquiring a territory and/or guarding females, and rarer

'alternative' morphs specialize in sneaking matings and/or mimicking females (e.g. water strider: Hayashi, 1985; bluegill sunfish: Gross, 1991; side-blotched lizard: Sinervo & Lively, 1996). In all these cases, the fitness of an alternative strategy is higher when it is relatively rare (it is under negative frequency dependent selection: Gross, 1991). Frequency dependent selection can also occur even without morphs being restricted to males only or differing in mating strategy, specifically if males of any particular morph direct their aggression non-randomly toward others (Mikami *et al.*, 2004; Seehausen & Schluter, 2004). When competition is stronger among phenotypically similar males, individuals expressing a rare phenotype enjoy the advantage of receiving, on average, less aggression than individuals of the common phenotype (Dijkstra *et al.*, 2010). In an African haplochromine cichlids species complex, males of most color morphs are more aggressive toward rivals with similar nuptial coloration (Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011). Consequently, this form of male-male competition has been hypothesized to facilitate the invasion of a novel phenotype and potentially stabilize a polymorphism (Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011).

The opportunity to interact with phenotypically distinct morphs is common when lineages come into secondary contact, and the potential role of this phenomenon in the evolution of reproductive isolation will be especially important when these lineages are newly diverged. Among allopatric, phenotypically diverged populations, males are often more aggressive toward phenotypes typical of their population (Anderson & Grether, 2010; Bolnick *et al.*, 2016). Two potential mechanisms might explain such a pattern, both of which can generate negative-frequency dependent selection among phenotypes upon secondary contact: (i) males act more aggressively toward males of their own phenotype ("own-type", Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011), and (ii) males act more aggressively toward the most common phenotype in the population ("familiarity", Bolnick *et al.*, 2016). Simulated contact zones or experimental populations can provide valuable insight

into the potential for differentiated male aggression biases to maintain polymorphism upon contact (Dijkstra *et al.*, 2010; MacGregor *et al.*, 2017). However, aggression patterns that arise in allopatry can shift in sympatry via selection (e.g. agonistic character displacement, Grether *et al.*, 2009) and/or non-genetic mechanisms (e.g. cross-generation learning, Verzijden *et al.*, 2008) that may not be expected to operate within short-term experimental assemblages. Natural transition zones provide unique opportunities to test whether and how patterns of aggression bias observed in allopatry are also observed in sympatry, and consequently the extent to which male-male competition might stabilize polymorphisms in nature.

The strawberry poison dart frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) exhibits extreme color polymorphism in and around the Bocas del Toro archipelago of Panama (**Figure 1-1**; Summers *et al.*, 2003). Coloration in males and females is qualitatively similar in this species (Summers *et al.*, 2003; Maan & Cummings, 2009), and is hypothesized to function both as an aposematic signal (Darst, 2006; Saporito *et al.*, 2007) and in inter- and intrasexual communication (Maan & Cummings, 2008; Crothers & Cummings, 2015). Here, we tested the hypothesis that color-mediated malemale aggression could contribute to the stability of this color polymorphism. We took advantage of a phenotypic contact zone between red (with blue legs) and blue colored lineages of *O. pumilio* (Dugas *et al.*, 2015; Yang *et al.*, 2016). We studied two populations in the contact zone that differ in morph frequencies, and two monomorphic populations on either side (**Figure 2-1**). We used simulated intrusions in the field to quantify the aggressiveness of territorial males toward a red or a blue rival, specifically testing whether males (i) bias aggression toward their own color ("owntype", Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011), and/or (ii) bias aggression toward the most common color in the population ("familiarity", Bolnick *et al.*, 2016). Evidence that either of these mechanisms is operating in the contact zone would suggest that negative-frequency dependent selection via male aggression biases could contribute to the dynamics of this sympatric polymorphism.

# 3.3 Methods

# **3.3.1 Study Species**

*Oophaga pumilio* is a terrestrial frog that occupies lowland forests along the Caribbean side of Central America from Nicaragua to Panama. Throughout most of its range, this frog has a red body with blue or black limbs, but populations in the Bocas del Toro region of Panama display coloration spanning the visual spectrum (**Figure 1-1**; Summers *et al.*, 2003); males and females do not qualitatively differ in color within populations (Maan & Cummings, 2009). Despite dramatic phenotypic differences, *O. pumilio* populations in this young archipelago (1–9 kya) are relatively undifferentiated at neutral microsatellite loci (Hauswaldt *et al.*, 2011) and there is no evidence of postzygotic isolation, and so they are hypothesized to be one biological species (Summers *et al.*, 2004; Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015). Most currently described color morphs occur in allopatry (typically one morph per island), but two morphs are sympatric in a few documented cases (Wang & Shaffer, 2008; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011; Dugas *et al.*, 2015), and in one, morph frequency varies along a contact zone (Yang *et al.*, 2016).

Male *O. pumilio* are territorial, defending territories through vocalization, visual displays, and physical combat (Bunnell, 1973; Gardner & Graves, 2005). Both sexes mate multiply, with females generally choosing a mate within a home range that overlaps several male territories (Pröhl & Hödl, 1999). Females are unlikely to mate with males not holding a territory (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011; Meuche *et al.*, 2012). Males advertising from higher perches are more likely to attract mates (Pröhl & Hödl, 1999), but all current evidence suggests that no aspect of male territory quality provides a direct benefit to females (Donnelly, 1989; Pröhl & Berke, 2001). If courtship is successful, the female lays a clutch in the leaf litter within a male's territory, where he may moisten it regularly (Weygoldt, 1980; Pröhl & Hödl, 1999). One parent, typically the female (Killius & Dugas, 2014), transports newly hatched tadpoles individually to water-filled leaf axils, and the female provisions her tadpoles with trophic eggs regularly until they complete metamorphosis (~45 d, Weygoldt, 1980; Dugas *et al.*, 2016).

# **3.3.2 Study Populations**

We tested the prediction that males of the rare (polymorphic populations) or novel (monomorphic populations) color morph would experience less male-male aggression than males of the more common phenotype in four *O. pumilio* populations (Yang et al., 2016; hereafter, red monomorphic, high-red polymorphic, high-blue polymorphic, and blue monomorphic; **Figure 2-1**). On Isla San Cristóbal (9°16'25.46"N, 82°15'12.74"W), frogs are similar in coloration to ancestral populations, with red dorsal and ventral coloration and blue limbs (Wang & Shaffer, 2008). On much of the Aguacate peninsula (9°11'47.65"N, 82°15'04.75"W), frogs are entirely blue. However, in the northern portion of the Aguacate peninsula, near Dolphin Bay, red, blue, and phenotypically intermediate frogs coexist. The red and intermediate phenotypes are most common at the tip of the peninsula, near Isla San Cristobal. We studied two populations in this polymorphic' site, red frogs were almost twice as frequent as blue (33% red, 18% blue, 49% intermediate; 9°13'15.70"N, 82°13'5.60"W), and at the 'high-blue polymorphic' site, blue frogs

were more than three times as frequent as red (16% red, 52% blue, 32% intermediate; 9°12'42.48"N, 82°12'53.17"W). While intermediate morphs were common in both polymorphic populations, more of these intermediate animals fell toward the red end of the spectrum in the high-red population, and more fell toward the blue end in the high-blue population (Y. Yang *unpublished data*; see below and **Appendix A.2** for details). We therefore treated red as the most common coloration in the high-red population, even though the proportion of "intermediate" morphs was greater than that of red.

# **3.3.3 Experimental Design and Protocol**

We used simulated territorial intrusions to test the predictions that wild territorial *O. pumilio* males would be more aggressive toward (i) intruders with coloration similar to their own (Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011), and/or (ii) intruders displaying the color most common in the population (Bolnick *et al.*, 2016). As model intruders, we used 3D-printed plastic frogs (3D model from Turbosquid.com, printed by Shapeways, Inc., New York, USA; Crothers & Cummings, 2015). We used acrylic paint to match the reflectance of pure red and blue males (**Appendix Figure 1**), and used a clear coat to mimic the reflective properties of moist skin (*sensu* Dreher & Pröhl, 2014; Crothers & Cummings, 2015). Both movement and acoustic signals elicit aggression in poison frogs (Narins *et al.*, 2003; de Luna *et al.*, 2010), so we added full body rotation every 5 seconds by mounting the model on a radio-controlled servomotor hidden within a cylinder modelled to resemble a log, and played back local *O. pumilio* advertisement calls through a Bluetooth-enabled speaker (Omaker M4) (**Figure 3-1**, **online supplemental video**). Call parameters across the red-blue transition zone do not differ among populations or color morphs (M. L. Dye, *unpublished data*), so we used the same call in all trials (**86**). This design enabled us

to control the stimuli and take notes from > 1.5 m away, a distance that does not disturb males (Staudt *et al.*, 2010; Gade *et al.*, 2016). All trials were recorded using a video camera (icools Black Wifi Sports Camera) mounted on the stimulus apparatus.



Figure 3-1 Simulated intrusion setup

Experimental setup used in stimulated intrusion trials to quantify male aggression toward red and blue colored opponents. A: Hand painted plastic frogmodels were mounted onto a radio-controlled servomotor hidden in a log-shaped cylinder. Advertisement calls were played through a Bluetooth speaker located behind the model. B: Photo of a blue territorial male attacking a red frog model during a trial. See also **online supplemental video**.

We conducted behavioral assays between 700–1300 h, when *O. pumilio* males are most active (Graves, 1999; Graves *et al.*, 2005), locating target territorial males by their advertisement calls (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011). Upon locating a calling male, we placed the intruder stimulus apparatus within one meter of the perch from which the focal male was calling. The color of the intruder stimulus was chosen haphazardly for each trial. Male *O. pumilio* defend ~3 m<sup>2</sup> core territories even in dense populations (Pröhl & Berke, 2001), so this model should always have been perceived as an intruder. We allowed the focal male to acclimate to the presence of the apparatus for 5 min or until it resumed calling, and then began audio playback and artificial movement of the intruder stimulus. We began behavioral observations (detailed below) after the focal male oriented toward the simulated intruder. If the focal male failed to orient to the model intruder within 15 minutes, we terminated the trial. Of the 372 males tested, 90 % were responsive. When males were responsive ('track', see below for operational definition), we ran trials for 10 minutes, or, if the male escalated the contest to the highest level of aggression ('attack', see below), we extended or shortened the trial to allow 5 minutes of interaction after the first attack. Trials, then, could have ranged from 5 (immediate attack) – 15 (attack at minute 10) mins (mean  $\pm$  sd: 8.98  $\pm$  2.00 minutes). This approach allowed us to quantify the intensity of the contest in individuals that did attack, but did not bias our likelihood of detecting other aggressive behaviors.

Following trials, we hand-captured the focal male and measured its SVL to the nearest 0.1 mm using a dial caliper. For color quantification (see below), we took digital photographs (Panasonic DMC-TS5, Kadoma, Osaka, Japan) of the dorsum against an 18% grey standard (DGK Color Tools), manually setting white balance for each photograph. We marked each male with a toe clip (Funk *et al.*, 2005) so as to avoid re-sampling (if a male we observed turned out upon capture to be toe-clipped, we discarded this second observation), and released it near the point of capture. *O. pumilio* quickly resume territorial behavior following release (Meuche *et al.*, 2012).

# 3.3.4 Male Agonistic Behaviors

A typical encounter between *O. pumilio* males involves an intruder approaching and calling to the resident, with the resident responding with calls and approaches. The contest can then either escalate to a physical fight (wrestling and pinning) or be resolved when one male (usually the intruder) shows submission (freezes in place or retreats and stops calling) before or upon the first attack by the winner (Baugh & Forester, 1994). In the current study, territorial males responded to the simulated intrusions similarly (online supplemental video). We recorded whether a male performed each of five aggressive behaviors that typically occurred in order (yes/no, not cumulative): (i) 'track', a male orienting toward and facing an intruder, (ii) 'approach', a male moving towards the model, (iii) 'calling' (typically accompanied an approach, but could occur any time), (iv) 'challenge', if a male continued an approach onto the stimulus model's perch (log), and (v) 'attack', if the male wrestled with the moving model (see online supplemental video for examples of each behavior). Since we continued to play calls and move the model frog after a focal male attacked, all trials mimicked a contest in which the intruder did not submit (i.e. an 'escalated contest' with physical fighting, Hsu et al., 2006). For analysis, we treated each of the five behaviors as a binary response (yes/no), and additionally considered the number of attacks a focal male directed to the stimulus model during the 5 minutes that followed the first attack. If the focal male remained in contact with the stimulus model for > 5 seconds (i.e. attempting to pin or subdue the model), we tallied a new attack count every 5 seconds (the frequency at which we moved the model); doing so minimized differences between males that were able to maintain contact when the model was moved and those that were not.

We measured two additional parameters that we included in analyses as covariates. During trials, focal males sometimes interacted with nearby conspecifics (male-male combat or courtship). As these activities lowered the potential time a male could interact with the model, we included whether (yes/no) the focal male engaged in such interactions in all statistical models. Perch height of male *O. pumilio* is correlated with mating success (Pröhl & Hödl, 1999) and could influence the focal male's motivation to defend his territory. To account for this, we measured the height of the

focal male's perch to the nearest cm with a flexible measuring tape and included this as a covariate in statistical models.

# **3.3.5** Color Quantification

In these polymorphic populations, by-eye categorizations of males as blue, red, or intermediate are equivalent to more quantitative measures of coloration, including visual models of color space that take into account *O. pumilio* visual sensitivities (Dugas *et al.*, 2015). However, we were also interested in testing for nuanced relationships between focal male color and its reaction to blue and red model intruders in the polymorphic population (e.g., asking whether redder males were more aggressive toward red intruders). For these analyses, we used digital photographs to generate objective color scores for each focal male from polymorphic populations. To quantify color in a continuous way, we sampled red (R), green (G), and blue (B) values across five  $20 \times 20$ -pixel areas on the frog's dorsum, using the software ImageJ 1.48v (Schneider *et al.*, 2012). We then standardized these values by taking residuals of mean R, G, or B frog color regressed on R, G, or B scores from the 18% gray standard (a  $20 \times 20$ -pixel area) in the same photo. We calculated the mean R, G, and B residuals for each frog and used a principal component analysis (PCA) to reduce the number of color parameters (Stevens *et al.*, 2007; methods followed Dugas *et al.*, 2015). Descriptive results are documented in detail in **Appendix A.2**.

# **3.3.6 Statistical Analyses**

In separate analyses, we modelled whether (yes/no) a territorial male (i) tracked, (ii) approached, (iii) called, (iv) challenged, and (v) attacked the model intruder. We tested the main

effect of population (red monomorphic, high-red polymorphic, high-blue polymorphic, and blue monomorphic), intruder model color (red or blue) and their interaction. We used generalized linear models (GLMs) with binomial error structures, and Bonferroni corrected for multiple comparisons after testing the five behaviors. In the subset of males that attacked the frog model (hereafter, 'escalated contests'), we similarly tested the main effect of population, intruder color and their interaction term on the intensity of attack ('attack' count during the 5 min following the first attack). Due to overdispersion when fitted with a Poisson distribution, we modelled attack counts using a negative binomial error structure. The prediction that population morph frequency is associated with aggression towards differently colored intruders would be supported by a significant population  $\times$  intruder color interaction. When this interaction was significant, we conducted separate post-hoc analyses for each of the four focal populations, testing only the main effect of intruder color; these analyses allowed us to ask whether differences were in the predicted direction.

Observations from polymorphic populations afforded us the additional opportunity to test the prediction that focal males would direct more aggression towards intruders of their own color. We re-ran the follow-up models described above in polymorphic populations, testing (in addition to intruder color) the effect of focal male color (red, blue, or intermediate) and the interaction term. The prediction that males would bias their aggression towards intruders of their own color would be supported by a significant male color × intruder color interaction followed by post-hoc analyses for each male color confirming that the differences were in the predicted direction. Because male color in polymorphic populations is not discrete, we also re-ran the models after replacing the byeye color categories with quantitative color scores generated from photos (PC1 and PC2, **Appendix Figure 2 & Appendix Table 1**). For all statistical models described above, we included perch height and whether the male interacted with nearby conspecifics (yes/no) during the observation period as covariates. Because conspecific interactions were negatively associated with aggression in several models (see Results), we also re-ran all models using a dataset that excluded trials in which the focal male interacted with conspecifics (Supporting Information: Additional results: trials without conspecific interactions).

All analyses were performed in R 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2019). We used the 'glm' and 'glm.nb' function in the stats package (R Core Team, 2019) to fit the GLMs. We tested the significance of main effects, interaction terms and covariates using a likelihood ratio test with the 'Anova' function in the car package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018), which compares overall model fit with and without a particular effect. *Post hoc* Tukey pairwise comparisons of the significant main effects were done using the 'glht' function in the multcomp package (Hothorn *et al.*, 2008).

# **3.4 Results**

We tested a total of 372 males (after discarding 15 trials due to resampling; see **Appendix Table 2** for a breakdown of sample sizes). Males from all four populations responded aggressively to both red and blue intruder models. Out of the 372 males tested, 335 (90%) tracked, 320 (86%) approached, 312 (84%) called, 252 (68%) challenged, and 142 (38%) attacked the model intruder.

# 3.4.1 Does Male Aggression Pattern Vary with Population Morph Frequency?

In our initial GLMs modelling whether (yes/no) a territorial male (i) tracked, (ii)

approached, (iii) called, or (iv) challenged the model intruder, the population × intruder color interaction term was always nonsignificant, as were the main effects of population and intruder color (**Table 3-1**), suggesting no effect of color on these aggressive behaviors. However, there was a significant population × intruder color interaction on whether a territorial male attacked the model intruder (**Table 3-1**). In these models, perch height was non-significant (**Table 3-1**). Males that interacted with conspecifics had lower aggression levels, but only with respect to the likelihoods of challenge and attack (yes/no, **Table 3-1**, challenge:  $\beta \pm SE = -1.01 \pm 0.27$ , attack:  $\beta \pm SE = 0.82 \pm 0.26$ ).

#### Table 3-1 GLMs: male agonistic behaviors

Generalized linear models evaluating the influence of population (red monomorphic, high-red polymorphic, high-blue polymorphic and blue monomorphic), intruder color (red and blue) and their interaction term on the likelihood of a territorial male to (i) track, (ii) approach, (iii) call at, (iv) challenge and (v) attack the frog model. Perch height and whether the male interacted with nearby conspecifics were included as covariates.

		Tra	ack	Арри	roach	C	all	Chall	enge	Att	ack
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR <sub>2</sub>	р	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR χ2	р
Population	3	0.22	0.975	0.30	0.961	0.49	0.920	5.04	0.169	10.64	0.014
intruder color	1	0.05	0.825	0.54	0.464	0.21	0.648	2.30	0.129	1.05	0.305
population × intruder color	3	0.70	0.873	0.63	0.889	1.56	0.669	6.58	0.087	12.87	0.005
conspecific interactions	1	3.54	0.060	2.48	0.115	1.64	0.200	17.53	<.001	13.03	<.001
perch height	1	0.28	0.599	0.77	0.381	0.13	0.720	3.12	0.077	1.33	0.250

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

When we modeled each population separately and considered all males, regardless of interaction with conspecifics during the trial, territorial males in the monomorphic red population were more likely to attack a red (12/21) than a blue (4/27) model intruder (GLM,  $LR\chi^2 = 7.60$ , df = 1, p = 0.006, Figure 3-2A). Similarly, males in the monomorphic blue population were more likely to attack a blue (14/23) than a red (7/22) model intruder (GLM,  $LR\chi^2 = 4.16$ , df = 1, p = 0.041, Figure 3-2A). Males in the high-red polymorphic population, on the other hand, were

equally likely to attack a red (23/72) and a blue (26/68) model intruder (GLM, LR $\chi^2$  = 1.25, df = 1, *p* = 0.264, **Figure 3-2A**). Males in the high-blue polymorphic population were also equally likely to attack a red (24/68) and a blue (32/71) model intruder (GLM, LR $\chi^2$  = 1.24, df = 1, *p* = 0.266, **Figure 3-2A**). In none of these four follow up models was perch height associated with the likelihood that a focal male would attack (GLM, all LR $\chi^2$  < 2.32, all *p* > 0.128); interaction with conspecifics (yes/no) was negatively associated with attack likelihood in one population (GLM, high-red: LR $\chi^2$  = 9.00, df = 1, *p* = 0.003,  $\beta \pm$  SE = -1.16 ± 0.40) but not the other three (all LR $\chi^2$  < 2.71, all *p* > 0.100).

Considering only the subset of males that attacked the model intruder, there was no effect of population, intruder color or the interaction term on the number of attacks (GLM, population:  $LR\chi^2 = 2.00$ , df = 3, p = 0.573; intruder color:  $LR\chi^2 = 1.60$ , df = 1, p = 0.206; interaction term:  $LR\chi^2 = 1.08$ , df = 3, p = 0.781, **Figure 3-2B**). Both perch height and interaction with conspecifics were non-significant in this model.

When we re-ran the analyses with the subset of observations in which the focal male did not interact with a conspecific during the trial, we found an overall similar pattern to what is presented above (**Appendix Table 3**). The only exception is that in contrast to the original analyses, males in the high-red polymorphic population were more likely to attack a blue model intruder; in the high-blue polymorphic population, this trend was also present but non-significant (see **Appendix A.4** for details).



Figure 3-2 Color-mediated male-male aggression biases

Proportion of males that attacked (A) and number of attacks on the intruder model (B; during 5 minutes following the first attack) when presented with a red or a blue model frog in four populations. Pie charts on the x axis correspond to the morph frequencies in the four populations. Red, blue and phenotypic intermediate males from the two polymorphic populations were plotted separately.

# 3.4.2 Do Males Bias Aggression toward Intruders of Their Own Color in the Polymorphic Populations?

When considering all territorial males, regardless of interaction with conspecifics during the trial, neither the main effects of male color and intruder color nor their interaction was a significant predictor of the probability of attack in the high-red polymorphic population (**Table 3-2**). We then re-ran the model, replacing by-eye color groups with quantitative color scores PC1 and PC2: there was no significant male × intruder color interaction nor any significant main effects (**Appendix Table 6**). In both models, perch height was unrelated to attack probability (**Table 3-2** & **Appendix Table 6**), while interaction with conspecifics (yes/no) was negatively associated with attack likelihood (**Table 3-2 & Appendix Table 6**, by-eye grouping: $\beta \pm SE = -1.30 \pm 0.42$ ; color PC scores:  $\beta \pm SE = -1.07 \pm 0.42$ ).

In the high-blue polymorphic population, neither the main effects of male color and intruder color nor their interaction was a significant predictor of the probability of attack (**Table 3-2**). When we re-ran the model with male color PC scores, there was no male  $\times$  intruder color interaction (**Appendix Table 6**). However, the likelihood of attack was positively correlated with PC2 (a hue indicator that increases with male "blueness", **Appendix Table 1**), suggesting that bluer males were more aggressive than redder males. In both models, interaction with conspecifics was unrelated to attack probability (**Table 3-2 & Appendix Table 6**), while focal males on higher perches were less likely to attack in the PC score model (**Appendix Table 6**,  $\beta \pm SE = -0.024 \pm 0.010$ ).

#### Table 3-2 GLMs: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations

Generalized linear models evaluating the influence of male color (red, intermediate and blue), model color (red, blue) and their interaction term on the likelihood of a territorial male to attack the frog model in the two polymorphic populations. Perch height and conspecific interactions were included as covariates. GLMs with PC color scores replacing by-eye male color groupings are presented in **Appendix Table 6**. GLMs for the other four variables (likelihood of tracking, approaching, calling and challenging) are presented in **Appendix Table 7**, **Appendix Table 8**, **Appendix Table 9** & **Appendix Table 10**.

Attack (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic		
Parameters	df	LR χ2	р	LR $\chi 2$	p	
male color	2	2.84	0.241	1.07	0.585	
intruder color	1	1.01	0.316	3.56	0.059	
male $\times$ intruder color	2	2.44	0.296	2.32	0.314	
conspecific interactions	1	10.21	0.001	2.47	0.116	
perch height	1	0.66	0.416	2.09	0.148	

When we re-ran the analyses with the subset of observations in which the focal male did not interact with a conspecific, we again found no significant interaction effect between male color and intruder color (the key prediction of the "own-type" hypothesis) in either polymorphic population, using either by-eye color groups or color PC scores (**Appendix Table 4 & Appendix Table 5**). Different from the analysis of the full data set, our models that included focal male color showed a main effect of intruder color in the high-blue, but not the high-red polymorphic population. Regardless of its own color, males in the high-blue (but not the high-red) population were more likely to attack a blue intruder. When we re-ran these models using color PC scores rather than by-eye category, we found this trend toward a higher likelihood of attacking a blue intruder in both polymorphic populations (see **Appendix A.4** for details).

GLMs for the other four variables (likelihood to track, approach, call and challenge) are presented in Appendix Table 7, Appendix Table 8, Appendix Table 9 & Appendix Table 10.

We did not detect any significant main effects or an interaction between male color and model intruder color in any of the models.

# **3.5 Discussion**

Male-male competition is hypothesized to contribute to the stability of a polymorphism when a rare male phenotype has a fitness advantage over a common phenotype (Mikami et al., 2004; Seehausen & Schluter, 2004). Territorial O. pumilio males in red and blue monomorphic populations were more aggressive toward the local coloration than the novel (allopatric) coloration, suggesting that color is important in shaping male aggressive interactions. However, this pattern did not persist in sympatry: males in the two polymorphic populations did not bias aggression toward their own coloration ("own-type") nor did they bias their aggression toward the more common color in the population ("familiarity"). Instead, males in both the high-red and the high-blue polymorphic populations were more likely to attack a blue model intruder. While aggression biases may facilitate the initial invasion of a novel O. pumilio phenotype, these biases appear to weaken and/or change in direction quickly as a second phenotype becomes more common. A related question remains whether males attend to the color of residents when invading a territory/establishing a new territory as males of the rarer morph might also benefit if their territories are less likely to be invaded. Without any aggression-mediated fitness advantage for the rarer phenotype, male aggression seems insufficient to exert negative-frequency dependent selection on O. pumilio color morphs in sympatry.

Identifying the mechanism by which male aggression biases are formed may help to clarify how and why male aggression biases break down in sympatry. If the aggression bias is heritable (McKinnon & Pierotti, 2010), alternative alleles might have been fixed in each monomorphic population. In this case, the lack of an aggression bias in the two polymorphic populations could be explained by recombination breaking down the association between male coloration and colorbiased aggression. Alternatively, if the aggression bias is plastic and shaped by experience (as assumed in the "familiarity" hypothesis), our findings suggest that the threshold for rival recognition is relatively low: a phenotype need not be the most common to be recognized, and any bias disappears long before morph frequencies approach parity. Because *O. pumilio* males interact with conspecific rivals on a daily basis, they are likely to learn from past agonistic interactions and adjust any aggression "bias" accordingly (as in many other animals: Hsu *et al.*, 2006; Reichert & Quinn, 2017). Pertinent to this learning hypothesis, however, male *O. pumilio* do not reduce aggression towards known neighbors like other territorial animals are known to do ("dear enemy": Ydenberg *et al.*, 1988; Bee, 2003; Gardner & Graves, 2005).

A third possibility is that color bias is learned at an early age (i.e. sexual imprinting). Imprinting is common in the context of mate preference (Lorenz, 1935; Verzijden *et al.*, 2012), and may also shape the perception of rivals (e.g. tits: Hansen & Slagsvold, 2003; cichlids: Dijkstra *et al.*, 2008a; but see Verzijden *et al.*, 2009). Depending on the modes of imprinting (e.g., parental vs. social), male color and color-biased aggression can be decoupled (although not as easily as genetic-based behaviors). The degree to which male aggression biases are genetic or plastic/learned in *O. pumilio* remains to be tested, but biparental care in this frog (males tending eggs and females feeding tadpoles, reviewed in Dugas, 2018) provides ample opportunities for tadpoles to see adult colors. Male-male competition was recognized as a potential diversifying force only recently (Qvarnström *et al.*, 2012; Tinghitella *et al.*, 2017), and the evolutionary consequences of whether aggression biases are genetic or learned remained to be explored.

Males from the two monomorphic populations we studied differed in their relative likelihoods of attacking red and blue intruders, but not in the pre-escalation display behaviors ('track', 'approach', 'challenge' and 'call'). This pattern could have arisen because intraspecific communication in O. pumilio is multimodal, with both acoustic and visual signals perceived in a sequential order (Dreher & Pröhl, 2014). If males use calls to identify a conspecific intruder from a further distance, while visual signals aid in closer-range assessments (Candolin, 2003), this could explain why aggression biases were only apparent after the focal male hopped on the log ('challenged'); at this point in the interaction the model was not visually shielded by the complex forest environment (Willink et al., 2013). On the other hand, we found that the intensity of attack (number of attacks) was not mediated by the intruder color. In animal contests, aggression biases can influence the probability of contest escalation; however, if coloration does not predict fighting ability (i.e. the color morphs are equally competitive), then color biases may not influence the intensity of the contest once escalated (Hsu et al., 2006). Although the two O. pumilio color morphs in this study have not been directly tested for competitive ability, they did not differ in overall aggression level, body size (Y. Yang unpublished data) or call characteristics (M. L. Dye unpublished data). Nevertheless, the majority of O. pumilio agonistic interactions in nature are resolved without escalation (~63% of 19 natural encounters; Meuche et al., 2012), suggesting that color-based differences in the likelihood of attack may be critical to a male's ability to hold/gain a territory. Moreover, females often leave the male they are courting if that male interacts with another male (Yang et al., 2019a). This suggests that even in cases where territories do not change hands, frequent agonistic interactions could be costly.

As in many other animals (Berglund *et al.*, 1996; Rojas, 2017), the dramatic differences in coloration among *O. pumilio* lineages appear also to be important in mediating female mate choice,

with females often (but not always) expressing assortative preferences in laboratory trials (Summers *et al.*, 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008, 2009; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011). Male-male competition in the wild can shape the extent to which these preferences actually contribute to reproductive isolation (Jennions & Petrie, 1997; Wong & Candolin, 2005). In the red-blue contact zone studied here, females from both monomorphic populations spend more time associating with males of the local color morph, while red, blue and intermediate females from the polymorphic region all associate preferentially with red males (Yang *et al.*, 2016). Consequently, when a novel color first invades a monomorphic population, male *O. pumilio* might simultaneously experience two, potentially opposing, selective forces: males of the rare color morph may slip under the radar of competing males and enjoy an advantage in terms of gaining/defending territories, but they may also be less attractive as mates if females preferring the novel color are also rare in the population.

Male-male competition could similarly limit females' access to preferred phenotypes if some male morphs are dominant over others (Dijkstra & Groothuis, 2011; Qvarnström *et al.*, 2012). Allopatric *O. pumilio* color morphs differ in aggression level (Rudh *et al.*, 2013), and brighter males are more aggressive in one monomorphic population tested (Crothers & Cummings 2015). Some of these differences in aggression level are reflected in contest dominance in a laboratory setting (Galeano & Harms, 2016). In this study, males that did not interact with conspecifics during the trial showed a trend toward attacking a blue model intruder more than a red one in both polymorphic populations, and bluer males were more likely to attack a simulated intruder (regardless of its color) in one polymorphic population. While these patterns were only evident in a subset of our analyses, and sometimes with only marginal statistical significance, they suggest that there may be asymmetries between the two color morphs. Whether coloration is associated with any other measure of competitive ability aside from aggression level in this contact zone warrants further investigation.

While males in monomorphic populations were less aggressive towards novel phenotypes, males in the polymorphic populations bias aggression to neither their own color nor the most common color in the area. Broadly, this result indicates that the potential for divergent aggression biases to stabilize a polymorphism will depend upon whether and how quickly such biases break down as morph frequencies approach parity. Several avenues for future research can offer a more complete understanding of the role of male-male competition in phenotypic divergence: (i) identifying the proximate mechanisms that shape male color-based agonistic behaviors, (ii) quantifying the fitness consequences of differential male aggression, (iii) deciphering the degree to which male-male competition constrains the expression of female preferences, and (iv) exploring how inherited vs. learned male aggression biases may influence the likelihood and persistence of phenotypic divergence.

# 3.6 Acknowledgements

Mysia Dye, Simone Blomenkamp and Deyvis Gonzalez helped with experiments. Michelle Spicer provided comments that improved the early development and writing of this manuscript. Michael Jennions and two anonymous reviewers provided helpful comments that improved the quality of the manuscript. The Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute (STRI) provided logistical support, and we particularly thank Plinio Gondola (Bocas del Toro Research Station). This study was supported by a STRI short-term fellowship to YY and the National Science Foundation (Award. No. 1146370 to CLRZ). The Panamanian National Authority for the Environment provided research, collection and export permission. This work is in compliance with IACUC (Tulane University Nos. 0382 and 0382R, University of Pittsburgh 15106566 and STRI No. 2014-0515-2017).

# 4.0 Chapter 4: Male-male Territorial Contest Limits the Expression of Assortative Mate Preferences in a Polymorphic Poison Frog

The contents in this chapter are adapted from from a manuscript currently in review in *Behavioral Ecology*:

Yang, Y. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. Male-male territorial contest limits the expression of assortative mate preferences in a polymorphic poison frog.

## 4.1 Chapter Summary

Co-divergence of sexual traits and mate preferences for those traits is hypothesized to lead to assortative mating patterns and subsequently reproductive isolation. However, mate choice rarely operates independently of intrasexual competition, and the effects of the latter on speciation are often overlooked. Recent studies have proposed two main roles of male-male competition in the evolution of reproductive isolation: i) maintaining sexual trait and preference polymorphism in the face of gene flow, and ii) limiting assortative mating when males of the non-preferred phenotype are superior competitors. Both scenarios rely on the assumption that male-male competition can limit the expression of divergent female mate preferences. We tested this critical but rarely tested assumption in the strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*), a highly color polymorphic species that has been used as a model system to study the role of mate choice in the early stages of reproductive isolation. Females generally prefer males of the same color morph, and this assortative pattern has been interpreted as support for reproductive isolation evolving among the divergent phenotypes. However, this inference does not account for male-male territorial competition, which is also mediated by color and can affect male courtship success. In this study, we housed females with two size-matched males, one of an attractive color and one of an unfamiliar color, and compared reproductive patterns when the male of the female's preferred color was the territory holder *versus* when the male bearing the preferred color was the non-territorial male. We found that females mated primarily with the territory winner, regardless of his coloration, suggesting that when a choice must be made between the two, male territoriality overrides female preference for male coloration. Our results highlight the interaction between mate choice and intrasexual competition, and the importance of considering the combined effects of both selective forces in shaping phenotypic divergence and speciation.

# 4.2 Introduction

Understanding the mechanisms by which sexual selection drives speciation has been a growing focus in evolutionary biology (Ritchie, 2007; Kraaijeveld *et al.*, 2011; Servedio & Boughman, 2017). Sexual selection can cause rapid co-divergence of mating signals and mate preferences, potentially leading to reproductive isolation between divergent phenotypes (Lande, 1981; Kirkpatrick, 1982; West-Eberhard, 1983). However, sexual selection encompasses both female mate choice and male-male competition, and the role of male-male competition has been largely ignored in speciation research (Qvarnström *et al.*, 2012; Tinghitella *et al.*, 2017; Lipshutz, 2018). This is a major oversight because sexual signals often function both in female choice and male-male competition (Andersson, 1994; Berglund *et al.*, 1996; McCullough *et al.*, 2016). Signals or weapons used in male-male contests can convey information on male quality, and drive the

evolution of female preferences on these male traits (e.g. skrraa calls in the *Chlamydera* bowerbirds; Borgia & Coleman, 2000). Traits can also evolve first as courtship signals, and subsequently be co-opted to signal aggression or dominance in male-male contests (e.g. vertical bars in male swordtails; Morris *et al.*, 2007). Because divergence of sexual signals can affect both female choice and male-male competition, without considering both processes, our understanding of speciation by sexual selection is incomplete at best.

Sexual selection arises due to asymmetries in mate limitation (i.e. a skewed operational sex ratio) and/or reproductive fitness gain per additional mating (i.e. the Bateman gradient) between the two sexes (Kokko *et al.*, 2012). In most animal systems, females are choosy because they are able to choose from a large pool of potential mates and have less to gain from additional matings than males. This sexual selection paradigm underlies a mainstream view that female choice and male-male competition should be mutually reinforcing; that high-quality males are both competitively superior and preferred by females (Cox & Le Boeuf, 1977; Berglund *et al.*, 1996; Wong & Candolin, 2005). While this is true in many systems, the pattern is far from universal (Qvarnström & Forsgren, 1998; Wong & Candolin, 2005; Hunt *et al.*, 2009). The reproductive interests of males and females are often at odds, resulting in misaligned or even opposing inter-and intra-sexual selection (Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Moore & Moore, 1999). Quantifying the interaction between female choice and male-male competition is especially crucial in speciation research because it dictates not only sexual signal evolution but also non-random mating patterns, and consequently, gene flow among the divergent phenotypes.

Recent research and syntheses have identified two potential roles of male-male competition in speciation by sexual selection. First, theoretical studies suggest that speciation via divergent female preference can only occur under a limited set of conditions, and these conditions are especially limited when there is gene flow between the incipient species. A key challenge to speciation by sexual selection is maintaining mating trait and preference variation during the speciation process (Arnegard & Kondrashov, 2004; van Doorn et al., 2004). Recent studies suggest that male-male competition can maintain this variation if males bias their aggression towards phenotypically similar rivals (through negative-frequency dependent selection; Mikami et al., 2004; Seehausen & Schluter, 2004; van Doorn et al., 2004). However, whether this promotes speciation depends critically on the assumption that the advantage gained in male-male competition (e.g. holding a territory) translates to higher reproductive success despite assortative female preferences (Dijkstra et al., 2008b). Secondly, divergent male types (or closely related species) are often asymmetric in competitive ability (Pryke & Griffith, 2006; Sefc et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2017). Females may not be able to choose their preferred phenotype when nonpreferred males are better competitors (Reichard et al., 2005; Dijkstra et al., 2008b), thus limiting mate preferences from translating to assortative mating. Such asymmetric male dominance could lead to competitive exclusion of the weaker phenotype or directional introgression of the stronger phenotype (Pearson & Rohwer, 2000; Teeter et al., 2008; Sefc et al., 2015; While et al., 2015), breaking down the potential for sexual isolation due to divergent female preference. Testing the hypothesis that the outcome of male-male competition can limit or prevent the expression of divergent female preferences is critical to understanding the role of male-male competition in speciation.

The strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) exhibits extreme, heritable color polytypism in the Bocas del Toro region of Panama (**Figure 1-1**; Summers *et al.*, 2003). Most described color variants occur among isolated island populations, but there are a few populations that show sympatric color polymorphism (summarized in Yang *et al.*, 2019b). Coloration in males

and females is qualitatively similar in this species (Summers et al., 2003; Maan & Cummings, 2009) and functions both as an aposematic signal (Saporito et al., 2007) and in intraspecific communication (Maan & Cummings, 2008; Crothers & Cummings, 2015; Yang et al., 2018). Females generally prefer males of the local color morph over an unfamiliar color morph (Summers et al., 1999; Reynolds & Fitzpatrick, 2007; Maan & Cummings, 2008; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011; but see Yang et al., 2016), and this assortative preference pattern has been interpreted as evidence that sexual isolation is evolving among divergent color morphs. However, this inference does not account for male-male territorial competition, which is also mediated by color and has a substantial effect on male courtship success (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011). Males respond more aggressively toward rivals of the local (familiar) color compared to an unfamiliar color in territorial contests (Yang et al., 2018, 2019b). Males of conspicuous color morphs are also generally more aggressive than duller morphs (Rudh et al., 2013), suggesting the potential for asymmetry in competitive ability to evolve in association with divergent coloration. Both patterns (aggression biases toward different-colored rivals and asymmetric aggressiveness among color morphs), as discussed above, have the potential to influence the evolution of reproductive isolation among O. pumilio color morphs.

Here, we conducted a breeding experiment with two territorial treatment groups in which male-male competition and female mate choice act either i) in the *same* direction, or ii) in *opposing* directions. We allowed two size-matched males to compete for dominance, and subsequently introduced a female with a preference for the *winner*'s or the *loser*'s coloration. By comparing the mating patterns between the two territoriality treatments, we explicitly tested whether male-male territorial contests limited the expression of assortative color preferences in *O. pumilio* females. Testing this hypothesis is relevant to the role of male-male competition in both i) maintaining

sexual trait and preference polymorphism in the face of gene flow, and ii) limiting the expression of female assortative preference when non-preferred phenotype is the superior competitor.

# 4.3 Methods

# 4.3.1 Study Species

Oophaga pumilio is a small terrestrial poison frog native and restricted to the Neotropics (Savage, 1968). This frog is diurnal and has trichromatic color vision that enables it to distinguish variation in conspecific color signals (Siddiqi et al., 2004). Male O. pumilio defend territories year round through vocalization, visual displays, and physical combat (Bunnell, 1973; Pröhl, 1997; Pröhl & Berke, 2001; Gardner & Graves, 2005). Females have larger home ranges that overlap several males' territories, and they visit calling males within their home ranges when searching for potential mates (Pröhl & Berke, 2001). Unlike most frogs, males of this species do not clasp females during mating; females can therefore terminate courtship at any time prior to mating (Yang *et al.*, 2019a). When courtship is successful, females lay a clutch of  $\sim 5$  eggs in the male's territory (Limerick, 1980; Haase & Pröhl, 2002). Although non-territorial males often attempt to court females, there are no documented cases of successful mating resulting from this satellite strategy in the wild (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011; Meuche et al., 2012). After oviposition, males guard and hydrate the terrestrial eggs. Upon hatching, females return to transport the tadpoles to individual nurseries (e.g. water-filled leaf axil; Dugas, 2018). Throughout larval development, tadpoles rely on the mother providing unfertilized eggs as their only food source (~45 d, Weygoldt, 1980; Dugas et al., 2016).

# **4.3.2 Experiment Design**

Our breeding experiment had two territorial treatment groups in which male-male competition and female mate choice acted either i) in the same direction, or ii) in opposing directions. Females were housed with two size-matched males, one of the same color morph as her own (her preferred color), and one of an unfamiliar color morph. We designed the trials so that the female was either the same color morph as the holder of the territory (terrarium) in which the three frogs resided (treatment AW, Attractive Winner) or the same color morph as the male who had lost the territorial contest (treatment AL, Attractive Loser; Figure 4-1A). We did not assay the females for color preference before introducing them into a trial. However, females of the three color morphs that we used (see below) have been shown to exhibit assortative color preferences in the wild (Maan & Cummings, 2008; Richards-Zawacki & Cummings, 2011), and these preferences persist in pure-bred captive individuals in our breeding colony (preferences are shaped by maternal imprinting; Yang et al., 2019b). We therefore assumed that the pure-bred females in our study displayed assortative preferences in our experiment (i.e. prefer males with their, and their mother's color compared to a contrasting, unfamiliar color). These trios were kept together until one pair produced tadpoles, which we then genotyped to reveal paternity as direct evidence of reproductive success.

# 4.3.3 Animals

We conducted our experiment using three color morphs in a breeding colony that was established from wild-caught individuals collected from three allopatric populations from Bocas del Toro, Panama: a bright orange-red morph from the southern tip of Isla Bastimentos (hereafter, *orange*; 9°15.080' N, 82°80.433' W), a red morph with coarse black patterning from the northwestern tip of Isla Bastimentos (hereafter, *red*; 9°20.808' N, 82°12.384' W), and a green morph with a bright yellow belly from Isla Popa (hereafter, *green*; 9°80.260' N, 82°70.391' W; exemplars of each morph are shown on the x axis of **Figure 4-1B**). Color is heritable in this species and all individuals used in the experiment were pure-bred (i.e. produced by individuals caught from the same wild population or their descendants). All animal enclosures were housed in the same walk-in environmental chamber (Darwin Chambers Company, St. Louis) at the University of Pittsburgh. The chamber was maintained at 25 °C and 70% relative humidity, under a 12L/12D light cycle. Frogs were fed with vitamin dusted fruit flies (*D. melanogaster*). Other animal care and maintenance details were as described in Dugas & Richards-Zawacki (2015).

For both territoriality treatments, we used four different color morph combinations: i) green female with green and red males, ii) green female with green and orange males, iii) orange female with orange and green males, and iv) red female with red and green males. We did not include the two combinations that asked the female to choose between orange and red males, because a previous study demonstrated that dorsal color hue (and not patterning) is the main target of female preference in *O. pumilio*, and that the red and orange morphs may not be different enough for the females to distinguish (Siddiqi *et al.*, 2004; Maan & Cummings, 2008). Color combinations were included as a categorical covariate of 4 levels in statistical analyses. Using multiple color morph combinations permitted us to ask whether the patterns we found were likely to be universal versus unique to certain phenotype combinations.

# 4.3.4 Determining Male Territoriality

For each trial, we first introduced two differently-colored, size-matched males into a 30 x 20 x 20cm terrarium. Each terrarium floor was lined with moist sheet moss and each terrarium contained a live *Peperomia Scandens* vine for egg deposition, and 4 water-filled PVC tubes for tadpole rearing. These terraria were kept in the same environmental chamber and condition as the rest of the breeding colony and were misted with RO filtered tap water several times a day. We observed the male pairs 2-3 times each week until the males established a stable hierarchy, operationally defined as the winner exhibiting behavioral dominance over the loser for three consecutive observations. Dominant behaviors include calling, chasing, wrestling, and pinning; and submissive behaviors include escaping and freezing (Baugh & Forester, 1994; Yang *et al.*, 2018). During each hour-long observation, we observed up to 16 terraria via scan sampling, and recorded the dominant and subordinate males in each tank based on the tallied behaviors at the end of the observation. We marked a male as the territory holder (winner) when he was recorded as the dominant male in three consecutive observations.

# 4.3.5 Mating Trials

After the male pair had resolved their dominance hierarchy, we randomly introduced a female into the terrarium that was either i) the same color morph as the winner (treatment AW), or ii) the same color morph as the loser (treatment AL). Females were assumed to display assortative preference (i.e. prefer males of the same color morph, see **Experiment Design** above). The tanks were censused every week for new tadpoles. Trials were terminated when the trio produced its first set of tadpoles, or when the trio failed to produce tadpoles in 200 days.

During the time that the trio were housed together, we continued to observe the behavior of the two males 2-3 times each week. Winner males were often observed courting females or acting aggressively toward the loser males (e.g. chasing, wrestling, calling). We pooled these courtship and agonistic behaviors together because it is often difficult tell whether the winner male was calling to the female or the loser male. Most loser males were socially inactive, but some displayed variable degrees of agonistic or courtship behaviors. To test whether the difference in loser behavior influenced the reproductive dynamics, we further categorized the losers as "submissive" or "aggressive" according to their behavior after the females were introduced to the terrarium. Loser males were classified as "submissive" when we did not observe any agonistic or courtship behavior during any of our observations, and classified as "aggressive" when agonistic and/or courtship behaviors was observed at least once.

We collected toe-clips of adults and tail-clips of tadpoles, extracted genomic DNA, and genotyped individuals at 6 polymorphic microsatellite loci (Hauswaldt *et al.*, 2009) to determine paternity. With a known mother and only two candidate fathers in each trial, paternity could be assigned unambiguously by eye in all cases. We used tadpoles as our indicator of reproductive success because egg production is difficult to reliably monitor in the breeding colony (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015). Tadpole production requires successful courtship, fertilization, egg development, male care (egg tending) and female care (tadpole transport), so our measurement likely underestimated the number of mating events. Previous studies in the same colony revealed that intra- and inter-morph breeding is similarly successful, suggesting no intrinsic reproductive barriers under captive conditions (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015).

# 4.3.6 Statistical Analyses

To test the hypothesis that the outcome of male-male territorial contests limits a female from choosing her preferred color morph, we compared the mating pattern between the two territoriality treatments, using only the trials that produced tadpoles within 200 days. We tested the effect of territoriality treatment (AW/AL) on whether (yes/no) the female mated assortatively based on coloration (i.e. whether mate choice is in concordance with presumed mate preference) using a binomial generalized linear mixed model (GLMM). In this model, we included color morph combination (4 total combinations, see methods) and loser behavior (submissive/aggressive) as covariates, and male and female IDs as random effects. We then tested whether bearing an attractive color trait can increase reproductive success on top of being territorial, with the prediction that the females are more likely to mate with a winner in the AW treatment compared to the AW treatment. We tested the effect of territoriality treatment (AW/AL) on whether (yes/no) the female chose to mate with the winner, including color morphs and the loser behavior as covariates.

We then analyzed the factors that influenced the timing of reproduction (latency to produce tadpoles) using all data points (inclusive of trios that produced no tadpoles). We first compared the reproductive timing of the winners in the two territory treatments, modeling the effect of territoriality treatment (AW/AL) on the latency for winners to produce tadpoles using a Cox proportional hazards regression. We then compared the reproductive timing of the losers, similarly modeling the territoriality treatment's effect (AW/AL) on the latency for losers to produce tadpoles. Cox proportional hazards regressions test for effects of variables of interest on both the timing and the probability of occurrence of an event. Note that because there were trials in which neither the winner nor the loser produced any tadpoles in 200 days, the two Cox regression
analyses were not identical. Color morph combination and loser behavior were included in both models as covariates.

All analyses were performed in R 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2019). We used the "glmmPQL" function in the *MASS* package (Venables & Ripley, 2013) to fit the GLMMs. We used the "coxph" function in the *survival* package (Therneau & Grambsch, 2000) to fit the Cox proportional hazards regressions. We tested the significance of the main effects (territoriality treatment and the covariates) using a likelihood ratio test with the "Anova" function in the *car* package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018), which compares overall model fit with and without a particular effect. *Post hoc* Tukey pairwise comparisons of the significant main effects with more than two levels were made using the 'glht' function in the *multcomp* package (Hothorn *et al.*, 2008).

## 4.4 Results

We conducted a total of 88 trials, 71 of which successfully produced tadpoles within 200 days (mean  $\pm$  sd = 50  $\pm$  39 days, excluding trials that ended without tadpoles). Proportion of reproductive successes (number of trials resulting in tadpoles/total number of trials) in each treatment group were: *Attractive Winner*: 36/43 (84%), *Attractive Loser*: 35/45(78%); sample sizes for each color morph combination are listed in **Table 4-1**. In 66% of the trials, we did not observe any agonistic or courtship behavior from the loser male during any of our observations ("submissive losers"), while in the remaining 34% of the trials, the losers displayed some degree of agonistic and/or courtship behavior ("aggressive losers"). We were able to unambiguously assign parentage genetically for all tadpoles, and tadpoles in the same clutch (clutch size range: 1-

7 tadpoles) were always sired by the same male. We used the 71 trials which successfully produced tadpoles in *Analysis of mating pattern* analyses, and all 88 trials in *Reproductive timing* analyses.

		Territoriality Treatment					
Female Morph	Male morphs	Attractive Winner	Attractive Loser				
green	green & red	9 (6)	9 (8)				
green	green & orange	15 (14)	9 (8)				
red	red & green	10 (10)	10 (8)				
orange	orange & green	9 (6)	17(11)				

#### Table 4-1 Sample size breakdown for the breeding experiment

Number of total trials and number of trials that successfully produced tadpoles within 200 days (in parenthesis) of the

## 4.4.1 Analysis of Mating Patterns

four color morph combinations in the two territoriality treatments.

Territoriality treatment (AW/AL) had a significant effect on female mate choice (binomial GLMM, LR $\chi 2 = 26.45$ , df = 1, p < 0.0001): 75% of the females in the AW treatment mated assortatively by color, while only 23% of the females in the AL treatment did so (**Figure 4-1B**). Neither color morph combination nor loser behavior had a significant effect on female mate choice (color morph combination: LR $\chi 2 = 1.62$ , df = 3, p =0.654; loser behavior: LR $\chi 2 = 0.139$ , df = 1, p = 0.709). Females were equally likely to mate with the winners of the same color morph (AW treatment) as winners of an unfamiliar color morph (AL treatment; binomial GLMM, LR $\chi 2 = 0.005$ , df = 1, p = 0.945). Because this analysis used only trials that produced tadpole(s), the result also means that females were equally likely to mate with losers of either color. Color morph combination had no effect on the paternal identity of the tadpole(s) (LR $\chi 2 = 6.57$ , df = 3, p =

0.087); however, aggressive losers were more likely to sire tadpole(s) compared to submissive losers (LR $\chi 2 = 7.21$ , df = 1, p = 0.007).



Figure 4-1 Breeding experiment design and results

A: Experimental design. In both treatments, the female was housed with a male of her own color morph and a male of a contrasting, unfamiliar color morph. In the *Attractive Winner* treatment, the territorial male was the same color morph (presumed to be her preferred morph) as the female; in the *Attractive Loser* treatment, the territorial male was the contrasting color morph (presumed to be less attractive). **B**: The proportion of trials in which the female mated assortatively in the breeding experiment. Bars above the x axis (y = 50%) indicate an assortative mating pattern, and bars below the x axis indicate disassortative mating. Images on the x axis shows an exemplar of each color morph. Colors in parentheses indicate the color morphs of the two males with which the female was housed. Sample sizes are reported in **Table 4-1**.

## 4.4.2 Reproductive Timing

The reproductive timing of winners was not significantly different between the two territoriality treatments (Cox regression,  $LR\chi 2 = 0.057$ , df = 1, p = 0.811). Color morph combination had no effect on the winner's reproductive timing ( $LR\chi 2 = 1.71$ , df = 3, p = 0.635); however, winners housed with an aggressive loser produced tadpoles significantly later compared

to those housed with an submissive loser (LR $\chi 2 = 16.56$ , df = 1, p < 0.0001, **Figure 4-2A**). In comparison, the reproductive timing of a loser was not predicted by territoriality treatment (Cox regression, LR $\chi 2 = 0.064$ , df = 1, p = 0.801) or by whether he behaved aggressively or submissively (LR $\chi 2 = 1.71$ , df = 3, p = 0.635, **Figure 4-2B**), but was significantly different among color morph combinations (LR $\chi 2 = 8.03$ , df = 3, p = 0.045). However, none of the pairwise comparisons among the color morph combinations was significant in the Tukey *post hoc* test (all p > 0.145).



Figure 4-2 Reproductive timing results

Time-to-event curves showing the reproductive timing of territory winners (A) and losers (B) in trials with an aggressive (dashed line) or a submissive (solid line) loser. Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals, and vertical lines on the curve indicate censor points (i.e. trials terminated because the other male sired a tadpole(s), or the 200 day limit had been reached). The two territoriality treatments were pooled together because the treatment effect was not significant in the Cox regression analysis (see 4.4.2 for details).

#### 4.5 Discussion

We provide empirical evidence that supports the hypothesis that the outcome of male-male territorial contests can limit the expression of divergent color preference in the strawberry poison frog (*O. pumilio*), a species with highly divergent mating trait and mate preferences. We found

that females mated primarily with the territorial winner, regardless of his coloration. Furthermore, the territorial losers of the female's preferred color were no more reproductively successful than losers of an unfamiliar, less preferred color, suggesting that bearing an attractive color trait was not sufficient to rescue the reproductive success of a non-territorial male. Together with previous studies showing that that both male competitive ability and aggression biases have diverged in concert with coloration (Rudh *et al.*, 2013; Yang *et al.*, 2018), our study adds to the weight of evidence that male-male competition is an important driver in trait divergence and evolution of reproductive isolation in *O. pumilio*.

Although female color preferences had no effect on mating patterns in our experiment, we do not mean to suggest that color preferences have no effect on color evolution or reproductive patterns in nature. In the Attractive Loser treatment, the female could choose a mate bearing her preferred color or a mate with a territory but not both. In the wild, females may be able to sample among multiple male territories before mating, increasing the chance that she would encounter a male that is both territorial and bears her preferred color. In other words, color may not be important when a female is choosing between a territorial male and a non-territorial male, but may become relevant when females are choosing between two territorial males. The number of potential mates a female can sample is often variable and restricted by social or ecological context, which dictates the sampling costs (Jennions & Petrie, 1997; Rosenthal, 2017). For example, population density is a strong determinant of how females sample potential mates in O. pumilio (as in many other animals; Kokko & Rankin, 2006). Females in a low-density population mate with the closest calling male without comparing them to other potential mates (Meuche et al., 2013), but appear to be choosier in populations with higher densities (Gade et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2019a). The degree to which male dominance restricts the expression of female preference

may therefore be variable among *O. pumilio* populations, potentially increasing as density decreases. However, even in populations where females sample multiple males, the outcome of male-male territorial competition can still determine the encounter rate of territorial males of her preferred versus less preferred color, indirectly restricting the expression of mate preferences.

In the wild, O. pumilio males that have lost a territorial contest may leave the location in search of another territory. However, it is also common for these non-territorial males to stay and attempt to intercept and court females attracted by the winner's advertisement call (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011). These satellite males court females by emitting quiet courtship calls to avoid detection by territorial males (Meuche & Pröhl, 2011). We observed such behaviors in our experiment: 34% of the loser males in our trials attempted to court the females or exhibited some degree of agonistic behavior toward the territory winner. In the analysis using only the 71 trials that successfully produced tadpoles, females were more likely to mate with an aggressive loser compared to a submissive loser. However, trials with an aggressive loser were also less likely to produce tadpoles within 200 days compared to trials with a submissive loser (60% vs 91%). When we considered these failed trials in the reproductive timing analyses, the reproductive success and timing of aggressive losers were not significantly different from submissive losers. On the other hand, the reproductive timing of the territorial winners was significantly delayed in the presence of an aggressive loser. This suggests that satellite males that are actively courting or fighting can inflict costs on the territorial owner even when territories do not change hands. This matches anecdotal observations in the wild, that females often lose interest in courtship when the territorial male engages in agonistic interaction with another male (Y. Yang, personal observation; H. Pröhl, personal communication).

A recent study revealed that both color-based female preference and male-male aggression biases in *O. pumilio* are formed through maternal imprinting instead of genetically inherited (Yang *et al.*, 2019b). Based on this finding, Yang et al. (2019b) proposed a mechanism whereby this combination of learned behaviors may facilitate speciation by sexual selection. In this model, imprinted aggression biases generate negative frequency dependent selection, which can maintain a stable polymorphism and allow sexually imprinted female mate preferences to reduce gene flow in sympatry. Our findings in this study lend support to two important assumptions of the Yang et al. (2019) model: that winning a territory confers major reproductive advantages to a male, and that aggression or challenges a territorial male receives decrease his reproductive success, even if he is able to maintain the territory.

The Yang et al. (2019) model incorporated individual male aggression biases toward rivals of different color morphs (Yang *et al.*, 2018), but not asymmetric behavioral dominance among color morphs (Rudh *et al.*, 2013). Females may not be able to choose males of their preferred color morph if competing morphs are superior in acquiring and defending territories. How this additional factor would impact the evolutionary trajectories described in the Yang et al. (2019) model is unclear. Intuitively, asymmetric dominance should disrupt reproductive isolation and make it more difficult for a stable polymorphism to arise. However, the effect likely also depends on the degree of asymmetry in competitive ability and the relative strength of female choice and male-male competition. A more comprehensive analysis is required to test this verbal argument and explore the range of evolutionary outcomes that result from different scenarios.

Research on speciation by sexual selection has traditionally focused on divergent female preferences, and studies elucidating the role of male-male competition are just starting to gain momentum (Tinghitella *et al.*, 2017). Recent studies have proposed two main roles of male-male

competition in speciation: i) maintaining sexual trait and preference polymorphism in the face of gene flow, and ii) limiting assortative mating when males of the non-preferred phenotype are superior competitors. Our study tested and confirmed a shared, critical assumption of both scenarios. Male-male competition does indeed limit the expression of divergent female mate preferences in *O. pumilio*, lending support to inferences made in previous studies. That sexual traits can mediate both female mate preference and male territorial competition (Andersson, 1994; Berglund *et al.*, 1996; McCullough *et al.*, 2016), and that females pay attention to both male traits and territory status/quality (Jennions & Petrie, 1997; Dijkstra *et al.*, 2008b) have been demonstrate across a range of animal taxa. Exploring whether the degree to which male territorial competition limits divergent female preference varies among species, and whether this variation correlates with these lineages' progression toward full reproductive isolation would be an exciting avenue for future research.

## 4.6 Acknowledgements

We thank Daniel P. Wetzel, Aimee Danley, Caitlin L. Nordheim, Josh Hickman, Edward Piechowicz, and numerous University of Pittsburgh undergrads for help with captive frog care, tadpole censuses, and occasional behavioral observation/tissue collection. Michelle Spicer provided comments that improved the early development and writing of this manuscript. This study was supported by the Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences at the University of Pittsburgh and an Andrew Mellon Predoctoral Fellowship (University of Pittsburgh) to YY. This work was done in compliance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee protocols at University of Pittsburgh (No. 18103943).

#### 5.0 Chapter 5: Imprinting Sets the Stage for Speciation

The contents in this chapter are adapted from the following publication:

Yang, Y., Servedio, M.R. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2019. Imprinting sets the stage for speciation. *Nature* 574: 99–102. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1599-z

#### 5.1 Chapter Summary

Sexual imprinting, the phenomenon where offspring learn parental traits and later use them as a model for their own mate preferences, can generate reproductive barriers between species. When the target of imprinting is a mating trait that differs among young lineages, imprinted preferences may contribute to behavioral isolation and facilitate speciation. However, in most models of speciation by sexual selection, divergent natural selection is also required; it acts to generate and maintain variation in sexually-selected trait(s) and the mating preferences that act upon them. Here we demonstrate that imprinting, in addition to mediating female mate preferences, can also shape male-male aggression biases; these aggression biases can act similarly to natural selection in maintaining trait and preference variation, facilitating reproductive isolation driven entirely by sexual selection. Using a cross-fostering study, we show that both male and female strawberry poison frogs (*Oophaga pumilio*) imprint on coloration, a mating trait that has diverged recently and rapidly in this species. Cross-fostered females prefer to court mates of their foster mother's color, and cross-fostered males are more aggressive toward rivals of their foster mother's color. We also demonstrate with a simple population genetic model that when both male aggression biases and female mate preferences are formed through parental imprinting, sexual selection alone can (i) stabilize a sympatric polymorphism and (ii) strengthen the trait-preference association leading to behavioral reproductive isolation. Our work constitutes the first evidence of imprinting in an amphibian, and together with our model, suggests that this rarely considered combination of rival and sexual imprinting can reduce gene flow between individuals bearing divergent mating traits, setting the stage for speciation by sexual selection.

## **5.2 Introduction**

Sexual selection can drive rapid divergence in mating signals and preferences, which may then lead to behavioral isolation among phenotypic variants, thereby facilitating speciation (Ritchie, 2007). Although the potential for speciation-by-sexual-selection has long been acknowledged, theoretical work has identified two major challenges for this mechanism to occur when there is gene flow between incipient species: (i) the association between a genetic mating trait and a genetic preference can easily be broken down by recombination (Felsenstein, 1981), and (ii) assortative mating often degrades genetic variation in mating traits and preferences, eliminating the polymorphisms that provide the basis for future divergence (Arnegard & Kondrashov, 2004; van Doorn *et al.*, 2004). Sexual imprinting, the phenomenon whereby offspring learn parental phenotypes as the basis of their mate preference, presents a solution to the problem of recombination (Irwin & Price, 1999; Verzijden *et al.*, 2012). Because offspring inherit their mating trait from the parent(s) they imprint on, the trait-preference association reforms anew in each generation. The second challenge, achieving stable polymorphisms, can be resolved by incorporating divergent ecological selection that acts directly on mating traits (i.e., "magic traits"; Servedio *et al.*, 2011; Servedio & Boughman, 2017) or mating preferences (e.g., sensory drive; Boughman, 2002). In these scenarios, however, natural selection is arguably a more important driver of speciation than sexual selection because of the former's contribution to the origin and maintenance of trait and preference variation.

Assortative male-male competition mediated by the same mating signal can also generate divergent selection through negative-frequency dependent selection (i.e., rare male advantage; Seehausen & Schluter, 2004), and may provide an alternative mechanism by which sexual selection, on its own, can stabilize a polymorphism (van Doorn et al., 2004; Dijkstra & Border, 2018). In this scenario, the mating trait inherently becomes a magic trait, affecting both divergence and reproductive isolation via solely sexual selection, and without the need for a pleiotropic ecological effect. This mechanism may be widespread because sexually selected traits are often used for both mate choice and intrasexual aggression (Berglund et al., 1996). Furthermore, "species recognition" (stronger behavioral responses toward conspecifics) often involves behavioral biases in both sexes (Grether *et al.*, 2017). Mathematical models (Mikami *et al.*, 2004; van Doorn et al., 2004) that have incorporated male-male competition as the source of balancing selection have assumed that individuals are more competitive/aggressive toward their own phenotype. However, as has been demonstrated for mating biases (Verzijden et al., 2012), the mechanisms that shape aggressive behavioral biases are diverse (e.g., genetic vs plastic; Hansen & Slagsvold, 2003; Verzijden et al., 2008; Dijkstra & Border, 2018), and the evolutionary trajectories resulting from biases generated through these various mechanisms remain largely unexplored.

Here, we tested for imprinted behaviors in a species that shows evidence of recent, rapid divergence in a sexually selected trait on which both female mate preferences and male aggressive biases act. The strawberry poison frog, Oophaga pumilio, exhibits extreme, heritable color polymorphism in and around the Bocas del Toro archipelago of Panama (Summers et al., 2003; Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015). While most color variation occurs among isolated island populations, there are a few areas of sympatric polymorphism (Figure 1-1; Summers et al., 2003; Richards-Zawacki et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2016). The O. pumilio populations in this region have likely experienced periods of vicariance and reconnection due to the rise and fall of sea-levels; however, comparisons of neutral genotypic with phenotypic variation suggest a major role of selection in the rapid color divergence (Brown *et al.*, 2010). Despite evidence that color can be aposematic in this species (Saporito et al., 2007), color variants appear to incur similar predation risk (Hegna et al., 2013; Richards-Zawacki et al., 2013; Yeager, 2015). This suggests that differential predation, the most obvious candidate for natural selection, may have played a relatively minor role in shaping coloration in O. pumilio compared to other poison frog species (Rojas, 2017). In contrast, sexual selection seems to be a strong driver of O. pumilio color evolution. Females, in general, prefer to court with their own color morph over novel color morphs (Maan & Cummings, 2008; Yang et al., 2016). Males, although not studied as extensively, are also more aggressive toward their own color morph (Yang et al., 2018). Because no post-zygotic incompatibilities appear to exist (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015), these divergent, color-biased sexual behaviors likely represent the most salient reproductive barrier among the color morphs.

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that imprinting shapes both female mate preferences ("sexual imprinting"; Irwin & Price, 1999; Verzijden *et al.*, 2012) and male aggression biases ("rival imprinting"; Hansen & Slagsvold, 2003) among three color morphs of *O. pumilio* using a rearing experiment. We tested for color biases in female mate preference and male-male aggression of lab-reared, socially naïve frogs that were either pure-bred (both parents of the same

color), cross-bred (each parent a different color), or cross-fostered (raised by foster parents of a different color than the biological parents). Upon finding empirical evidence for both sexual and rival imprinting, we further explored the evolutionary implications of these imprinted behaviors using a simple population genetic model in which imprinting shapes both female mate preferences and male aggression biases.

## 5.3 Methods

### **5.3.1 Rearing Experiment**

## **5.3.1.1 Experiment Design**

We reared socially naïve *O. pumilio* individuals from frogs in a breeding colony (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015), haphazardly selecting from three allopatric, differently colored O. pumilio lineages from Bocas del Toro, Panama: red (Tranquilo Bay, Isla Bastimentos: 9°15.080' N, 82°80.433' W), green (Punta Laurel, Isla Popa: 9°80.260' N, 82°70.391' W) and blue (Shark Hole, Tierra Oscura: 9°12.047' N, 82°12.049' W; **Figure 1-1**). The three lineages show divergence in neutral genetic markers (Wang & Shaffer, 2008; Wang & Summers, 2010), but no evidence of intrinsic post-zygotic isolation (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015).

The rearing experiment included three treatments: (i) pure-bred: offspring raised by their biological parents, both of whom were of the same color morph, (ii) cross-bred: offspring raised by their biological parents, each of whom were a different color morph, and (iii) cross-fostered: offspring raised by foster parents that were of a different color from the biological parents (**Figure 5-1A**). The biparental care exhibited by this species provides ample opportunity for tadpoles to

observe adult colors. Males tend their eggs while females transport tadpoles to waterholes on their backs and later feed their begging tadpoles with their own unfertilized eggs throughout larval development (Dugas, 2018). Offspring were removed from rearing enclosures within 24 h of reaching Gosner stage 46 (complete metamorphosis; Gosner, 1960) and transferred to a separate enclosure, physically and visually isolated from other frogs in the colony until the behavioral assay, which was conducted after the individual had reached sexual maturity (10 - 12 months after metamorphosis). We tested for color-based behavioral biases in the male and female offspring using a two-way choice test (**Figure 5-1B**; see below) among males of contrasting colors (purebreeding: own vs another color; cross-breeding: mother's vs father's color; cross-fostering: biological vs foster color).

We used a total of 42 males and 40 females, out of which we matched up a total of 49 unique pairs during the course of the rearing experiment. Each pair produced 1-3 of the focal individuals used in our behavioral assays (not including individuals that died during the larval period or before sexual maturity). The csv file containing parent IDs of each individual is archived at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9628406. Sample sizes were: pure-bred male = 11 (blue = 3; green = 7; red = 1); pure-bred female = 12 (blue = 5; green = 6; red = 1); cross-bred male = 16 (blue mother x green father = 2; green mother x red father = 14); cross-bred female = 19 (blue mother x green father = 9; green mother x red father = 10); cross-fostered male = 7 (biologically blue, red fostered = 2; biologically green, blue fostered = 1); cross-fostered female = 7 (biologically blue, green fostered = 1; biologically blue, red fostered = 2; biologically green, blue fostered = 2; biologically green, blue fostered = 1).

## 5.3.1.2 Cross-fostering Protocol

Following successful courtship in nature, female *O. pumilio* lay terrestrial eggs in the male's territory (Pröhl & Hödl, 1999). Males tend and moisten the clutches; upon hatching, the female transports each tadpole to a separate water-filled leaf axil (Weygoldt, 1980; Dugas, 2018). Throughout larval development, tadpoles are fully dependent upon trophic eggs provided by their mother. Females visit their tadpoles every 1-8 days for ~6 weeks (Brust, 1993; Dugas, 2018). During these visits, the mother submerges her body in the water inside the leaf axil and her tadpole vibrates its body against her body to beg for egg provisioning (Stynoski & Noble, 2012; Dugas, 2018). In the colony, the breeding pairs were housed in plastic enclosures (37 x 22 x 25cm) that each contained four artificial leaf axils (water-filled PVC tubes) for tadpole rearing. Other animal housing and care details follow Dugas & Richards-Zawacki (2015). Breeding enclosures were checked daily for newly deposited tadpoles. Cross-fostering was accomplished by swapping PVC tubes, and the newly-hatched tadpoles they contained, among enclosures within 24h post-deposit. Cross-fostering was possible since females recognize tadpole rearing sites using location cues, but not tadpole identity (Stynoski, 2009).

While we acknowledge that a treatment group where tadpoles were swapped among breeding pairs of the same color morph would have made a more effective control than our purebred treatment, the low odds of rearing a swapped tadpole to adulthood dissuaded us from including this type of control in our experiment. To minimize the potential for imprinting on the biological parents, we swapped tadpoles among tanks within 24h of them being deposited in their water holes. Therefore, we could only swap tadpoles when two breeding pairs had newly hatched tadpoles on the same day. Knowing that the mortality rate between hatching and metamorphosis was near 80% (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2016) and given that we had a limited number of breeding pairs to work with, we prioritized swapping tadpoles between different color morphs when the opportunity for cross-fostering arose.

#### 5.3.1.3 Behavioral Assay

Two-way choice experiments were carried out to assess the behavior of offspring toward males of different phenotypes: the focal individual could move freely in an arena, and the two stimulus males were confined under transparent, plastic domes (**Figure 5-1B**). Unrelated adult males were used as stimulus males, and stimulus male pairs were matched for size and mass but differed in color. The experimental arena was a plastic container (30 x 40 x 20 cm) that was opaque (white) on the sides and bottom, and covered on top with plastic mesh to allow behavioral observations from above. All observations were conducted in a dark room, with illumination that mimics forest floor lighting condition (*sensu* Maan & Cummings, 2008). The specific experimental setup and protocol fully followed Yang *et al.* (2016) except (i) the arena size was different, and (ii) the focal individuals were given a choice between two instead of three stimulus males.

For both female preference and male aggression assays, we quantified (i) association time, defined as the cumulative time the focal frog spent in each of the 4 cm (~2 body lengths) interaction zones surrounding each male's dome, and (ii) approaches, defined as the number of times the focal frog oriented toward and entered each interaction zone. In the wild, aggressive male *O. pumilio* perform the following behaviors, typically in this order, as contest escalates (Yang et al., 2018): i) 'track', orienting toward and facing an intruder; ii) 'approach', moving toward the intruder; iii) 'call', typically accompanied an approach, but could occur any time; iv) 'challenge' if a male continued an approach onto the intruder's perch; and v) 'attack', physically wrestling with the intruder. For male aggression assays, because the focal individual and the stimulus males were

separated by the transparent plastic dome, the most aggressive behavior the focal males could perform was to approach the confined stimulus males as close as possible. Therefore, we similarly used association time (in the 4 cm interaction zone) and number of approaches to assess male aggression. We did not use calling as a metric because it was often difficult to distinguish which stimulus male the focal male was calling to when the focal male was not in the interaction zone.

## 5.3.1.4 Statistical Analyses

To test for female mate preference and male aggression biases, we calculated the proportions of the total association time male and female offspring spent with one of the two male phenotypes presented to them (pure-bred: own/(own + other); cross-bred: mother/(mother + father); cross-foster: foster/(foster + biological)). We tested the hypothesis that these association time proportions were > 0.5 for the three rearing treatments and two sexes separately with one-tailed, one-sample permutational t-tests. We also ran the same analyses with ratios of the number of approaches to each stimulus phenotype as a second, supplementary confirmation of the pattern. All analyses mentioned in the main text were performed in R 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2019). We used the 'perm.test' function in the jmuOutlier package (Garren, 2018). Effect sizes (Cohens' D) were calculated using the 'cohensD' function in the lsr package (Navarro, 2015).

#### **5.3.2 Population Genetic Model**

#### 5.3.2.1 Design

We built a simple population genetic model to explore the possible evolutionary trajectories driven by imprinted female mate preferences and male aggression biases. In nature, the genetic architecture of polymorphic mating traits appears highly variable, ranging from simple Mendelian to highly polygenic, but a commonly observed pattern is one in which a single mutated allele leads to a drastic phenotypic change (e.g. MC1R and animal melanic coloration; Hoekstra *et al.*, 2006; Uy *et al.*, 2009). While studies of the genetic architecture of coloration in *O. pumilio* are still in their infancy, there are examples suggesting both polygenic (Dugas & Richards-Zawacki, 2015; Yang *et al.*, 2018) and simple Mendelian inheritance of color (Richards-Zawacki *et al.*, 2012) (**Figure 1-1**). As an initial step, we used a diploid model that incorporates a mating trait governed by a diallelic Mendelian locus (with dominant and recessive alleles) on which both female mate preferences and male aggression biases act. We defined preference strength  $\alpha$  and aggressive toward the imprinted phenotype in male-male competition. In our model, both female preferences and male aggression biases are learned by imprinting on a parent's mating trait, as we found evidence for in *O. pumilio*.

## 5.3.2.2 Model

We developed a diploid model with discrete, non-overlapping generations. The mating trait is governed by a single diallelic locus T with a dominant allele (T<sub>1</sub>) and a recessive allele (T<sub>2</sub>). We also used a behavior "locus" P (actually a phenotype) that denotes which trait the individuals have imprinted on. P is inherited via maternal or paternal imprinting, and governs both female mate preference and male aggression biases, being either P<sub>1</sub> (biased toward trait 1) or P<sub>2</sub> (biased toward trait 2). The population is therefore described by "phenogenotypes" that contain a diploid mating trait locus T and a haploid behavior "locus" P. The frequencies of the six phenogenotypes T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>12</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>22</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>2</sub>, T<sub>12</sub>P<sub>2</sub> and T<sub>22</sub>P<sub>2</sub> are designated  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ ,  $x_3$ ,  $x_4$ ,  $x_5$  and  $x_6$ , respectively. The life cycle consists of male-male competition, female mate choice, reproduction and imprinting. During male-male competition, males are  $1+\beta_k$  times as aggressive toward the imprinted mating trait phenotype k. The total aggression received by mating phenotype 1, for example, is  $A_1 = (1 + \beta_1) p_1 + p_2$ , where  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  represent the frequencies of trait 1- and trait 2-biased males, respectively ( $p_1 = x_1 + x_2 + x_3$ ,  $p_2 = x_4 + x_5 + x_6$ ). We assumed that males that receive more aggression from other males are less likely to establish a territory and thereby have reduced reproductive success (Grether *et al.*, 2017), and calculated the effective male genotype frequencies that enter the mating pool, from which the females choose their mates. The fitness ( $\omega$ ) of males with mating phenotype k decreases as the total aggression received increases, such that  $\omega_k = 1 - s_k$ , where  $s_k = A_k / \sum_k A_k$ . Because the behavioral bias of males is not relevant in the portion of the life cycle that comes after male-male competition, we pool P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub> males and calculate only the three male genotype frequencies: T<sub>11</sub>, T<sub>12</sub> and T<sub>22</sub> males are designated  $x_{1,m}$ ,  $x_{2,m}$ ,  $x_{3,m}$ , where subscript *m* denotes males. The effective frequency of males with mating genotype *i* that enter the mating pool after male competition is therefore:

$$x_{i,m}^* = \frac{\omega_k x_{i,m}}{\sum_i \omega_k x_{i,m}},$$

where k = 1 when i = 1 or 2, and k = 2 when i = 3. There is no competition between females (denoted by subscript *f*) in this model, so the female phenogenotype frequency that enters the mating pool is  $x_{j,f}^* = x_{j,f}$ , where the six female phenogenotypes T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>12</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>22</sub>P<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>2</sub>, T<sub>12</sub>P<sub>2</sub> and T<sub>22</sub>P<sub>2</sub> are designated  $x_{1,f}$ ,  $x_{2,f}$ ,  $x_{3,f}$ ,  $x_{4,f}$ ,  $x_{5,f}$  and  $x_{6,f}$ , respectively.

After male competition, the females choose their mates according to the behavior "locus" P, such that upon encounter, females are  $1+\alpha_k$  times as likely to mate with males possessing the

imprinted mating phenotype k (following ref (Kirkpatrick, 1982)). Thus, the frequency of mating between each combination of male genotype i and female phenogenotype j is:

$$F_{i,j} = \frac{x_{i,m}^* x_{j,f}^* (1 + d_{i,j} \alpha_k)}{\sum_i x_{i,m}^* (1 + d_{i,j} \alpha_k)},$$

where  $d_{i,j} = 1$  if the female behavior locus P matches the male trait phenotype T (i = 1 or 2 with j = 1, 2 or 3, and i = 3 with j = 4, 5 or 6) and  $d_{i,j} = 0$  otherwise, and where k = 1 when j = 1, 2 or 3, and k = 2 when j = 4, 5, or 6. The denominator normalizes the frequencies to ensure females have equal mating success (i.e. strict polygyny).

Reproduction and imprinting happen after mating, where the phenogenotype frequencies of the resulting zygotes are calculated. The mating trait locus T is genetically inherited with Mendelian segregation. The phenotypic "locus" P is obtained by either maternal or paternal imprinting. All offspring with a trait 1 ( $T_{11}$  or  $T_{12}$ ) parent (mother for maternal printing; father for paternal printing) are P<sub>1</sub> individuals, and all offspring with a trait 2 ( $T_{22}$ ) parent are P<sub>2</sub> individuals.

#### 5.3.2.3 Analysis

Details of the recursion equations and numerical analyses are described in **Appendix B**. The recursion equations were not solvable analytically, and were analyzed by estimating numerical solutions using Mathematica (Wolfram Research, 2018) and using deterministic simulations. We considered two conditions important for assessing progress toward the evolution of reproductive isolation (Verzijden *et al.*, 2005): (i) whether the polymorphic equilibrium of mating trait T is stable (**Figure 5-2A**), and (ii) whether the mating traits (T) and the behaviors (P) were associated (i.e., in phenogenotypic linkage disequilibrium) at the polymorphic equilibrium (**Figure 5-2B**). We also assessed the extent to which the potential for achieving a stable polymorphic state

depended upon starting allele frequencies (**Appendix Figure 5**). Our basic model (presented in the main text) assumed symmetrical selective strengths on both mating phenotypes (i.e.  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ and  $\beta_1 = \beta_2$ ). We also analyzed scenarios in which the strength of the behavioral biases differs between the P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub> individuals (i.e.  $\alpha_1 \neq \alpha_2$  and  $\beta_1 \neq \beta_2$ ; presented in supporting information). The asymmetries allow the polymorphic equilibrium to stabilize at a wide range of phenotype frequencies (from 0 to 1), but the qualitative conclusions reported above regarding polymorphism stability and the evolution of linkage disequilibrium between the mating trait and the behaviors were robust (**Appendix B.2.2, Appendix Figure 3 & Appendix Figure 4**). All analyses were performed using Mathematica (Wolfram Research, 2018).

#### 5.4 Results and Discussion

#### 5.4.1 Rearing Experiment

Overall, males and females showed similar behavioral patterns (courtship in females and rival aggression in males) in all three treatments (**Figure 5-1C & D**, **Table 5-1 & Table 5-2**). Pure-bred offspring biased their interactions toward males of their own color over another color, establishing that lab-reared frogs exhibit similar color-biased behaviors to wild *O. pumilio*. Cross-fostered offspring showed a bias toward the foster parents' color over their biological parents' color, suggesting that imprinting is more influential than genetics in shaping these color-mediated behaviors. Additionally, Cross-bred offspring biased their interactions toward males of their interactions toward males of their mother's color over their father's, suggesting that interaction with the mother is more influential than interaction with the father. We hypothesize that *O. pumilio* learn their mother's coloration

during the tadpole stage, and use it as a template for mate preference and rival aggression biases in adulthood. Our results suggest that maternal imprinting may be the key mechanism mediating the color-assortative behaviors seen among recently diverged *O. pumilio* color morphs.



Figure 5-1 O. pumilio rearing experiment

A: Experimental design. Pure-bred = offspring raised by their biological parents, both of whom were of the same color morph. Cross-bred = offspring raised by their biological parents, each of whom were a different color morph. Cross-fostered = offspring raised by foster parents (a different color morph than the biological parents). **B**: Experimental apparatus used in behavioral assays. During behavioral observations, the two stimulus males were confined under clear plastic domes, and the focal individual could move freely in the arena. **C-D**: The proportions of the total time female (**C**) and male (**D**) offspring spent with one of the two stimulus male phenotypes during the behavioral assay (pure-bred: own/(own + other); cross-bred: mother/(mother + father); cross-foster: foster/(foster + biological)). Values above the dashed line (y = 0.5) indicate a preference/aggression bias consistent with maternal imprinting. P-values were based on one-sided, one-sample permutational t-tests (see **Table 5-1**). Bold lines indicate medians. Boxes enclose 25th – 75th percentiles. Error bars enclose data range (excluding outliers). Dots are data points; those vertically outside the error bars are outliers (below Q1 – 1.5 × IQR or above Q3 + 1.5 × IQR). Sample sizes (number of focal animals) were: pure-bred male = 11; pure-bred female = 12; cross-bred male = 16; cross-bred female = 19; cross-fostered male = 7; cross-fostered female = 7.

#### Table 5-1 Proportional association time for the three groups of rearing treatment

One-sided one-sample permutational t-tests testing the association time ratios against 1 separately in the three rearing treatments and two sexes. A summarized version that shows only p values is incorporated into Figure 5-1C & D.

			Female				Male				
	Ratio of time spent with	N	$Median \pm IQR$	ES*	р	N	Median ± IQR	ES	р		
Pure-bred	Biological's color	12	$3.28 \pm 240.9$	0.60	0.011	11	$2.65\pm1.66$	0.53	0.008		
Cross-bred	Mother's color	19	$4.01\pm31.67$	0.41	0.002	16	$5.94 \pm 297.0$	0.58	0.002		
Cross-fostered	Foster's color	7	$2.57\pm7.79$	0.40	0.031	7	$2.75\pm34.17$	0.41	0.047		

\*ES: effect size, Cohens' D

#### Table 5-2 Proportional approaches for the three groups of rearing treatment

One-sided one-sample permutational t-tests testing the proportions of approaches against 0.5 separately, in the three rearing treatments and two sexes

			Female				Male				
	Ratio of approaches toward	N	Median ± IQR	ES*	р	Ν	Median $\pm$ IQR	ES	р		
Pure-bred	Biological's color	12	$2.48\pm52.2$	0.54	0.020	11	$1.99 \pm \! 0.50$	0.94	0.031		
Cross-bred	Mother's color	19	$1.00\pm0.99$	0.37	0.026	16	$2.49 \pm 150.1$	0.54	0.004		
Cross-fostered	Foster's color	7	$2.98\pm2.72$	0.39	0.063	7	$1.99\pm2.72$	0.39	0.047		

\*ES: effect size, Cohens' D

#### **5.4.2 Population Genetic Model**

We further explored the evolutionary implications of these imprinted behaviors using a simple population genetic model in which imprinting shapes both female mate preferences and male aggression biases. We compared results from two versions of the model that differ only in whether imprinting was on the mother's or the father's mating trait. The two yield qualitatively similar conclusions. We were interested in identifying the conditions under which both mating trait phenotypes coexist stably in our model. We found that the stability of such a polymorphism

is dependent upon the relative strengths of the female mate preference ( $\alpha$ ) and male aggression bias ( $\beta$ ) (Figure 5-2A). While initial allele frequencies affect the maintenance of trait variation, an initially rare trait allele (frequency = 0.0001) can increase in frequency to reach stable polymorphism across a wide range of preference and aggression strengths (Appendix Figure 5). Incomplete imprinting (i.e., when not every individual imprints successfully on the parent's phenotype), on the other hand, will linearly decrease the realized strength of both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , resulting in a diagonal shift toward the origin in Figure 5-2A (See Appendix B.4). Mechanistically, mating trait frequencies, through sexual imprinting, determine the behavior frequencies (both female mate preferences and male aggression biases) of the offspring, which then serve as the source of sexual selection acting on the mating trait in the next generation. Therefore, selection generated by both female preference and male aggression is frequency-dependent, delayed by one generation. Consistent with previous studies (Verzijden et al., 2005; Servedio & Boughman, 2017), imprinted female mate preference exerts positive-frequency dependent selection that favors the more common mating trait allele and would, on its own, drive that allele to fixation. Male aggression bias, in contrast, generates negative-frequency dependent selection that counters the pull toward fixation(van Doorn et al., 2004), generating a stable polymorphism in the mating trait when the aggression bias is sufficiently strong (i.e., tan area of Figure 5-2A). In this basic model, the mating trait phenotype frequency always stabilizes at 0.5; however, when we extend the model to allow asymmetry in the strengths of selection (i.e., when the value of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  varies with the phenotype that the individual imprinted on), the trait polymorphism can stabilize at broad range of frequencies (see Appendix B.2.2, Appendix Figure 3 & Appendix Figure 4).



Figure 5-2 Polymorphism stability and trait-preference association

A: Stability of polymorphic equilibria for combinations of female preference strength  $\alpha$  and male aggression bias strength  $\beta$  from 0.01 to 100, with a step size of 100.05. Axes are on log scales. Maternal and paternal imprinting models yield visually identical results. Across the range of parameters tested, the strength of the male aggression  $\beta$ bias required to maintain a stable polymorphism increases nonlinearly with female preference strength  $\alpha$ . **B**: Association between mating trait locus T and female mate preference "locus" P (measured as trait-preference phenogenotypic linkage disequilibrium, presented as proportion of maximum *D*) at the polymorphic equilibrium (trait 1 phenotype frequency = 0.5) increases with female preference strength  $\alpha$ . Note that the stability of such a polymorphic equilibrium depends on the relative strength of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (see **A**). Trait-preference linkage disequilibrium, expressed in terms of  $\alpha$  (it is independent of  $\beta$ ), are described in **Appendix B.2.1**.

We also evaluated the association between the mating trait and mate preference at the polymorphic equilibrium. Divergent mating and aggressive behaviors will not generate two completely isolated mating groups unless female mate preference is absolute (i.e., females never mate with the non-preferred phenotype,  $\alpha = \infty$ ). Instead, we looked for parameter space where a positive trait-behavior association was formed, as this indicates reduced gene flow between the two trait variants, which could set the stage for speciation(Felsenstein, 1981). We found that formation of this positive trait-behavior association (calculated as phenogenotypic linkage disequilibrium) is independent of aggression bias strength  $\beta$  and increases with preference strength  $\alpha$  (Figure 5-2B). However, as the preference strength  $\alpha$  increases, the minimum aggression bias strength  $\beta$  required for a stable polymorphism also increases (Figure 5-2A). Consequently, pre-

mating behavioral isolation is most likely to evolve via this mechanism when female preference is strong, but cannot do so without being accompanied by male aggression bias that is strong enough to maintain a stable polymorphism during the process. Along with simulations that explore the robustness of these findings to other initial trait frequencies, our model suggests that in the rapidly diverging *O. pumilio*, maternally imprinted sexual behaviors may begin to generate reproductive isolation when allopatric color morphs come into secondary contact (as has likely occurred many times due to sea-level change), when parapatric populations contribute new trait variants by one-time migration, or even among color morphs that arise in sympatry as long as sexual selection is strong.

#### **5.5 Conclusion**

Sexual selection is likely to facilitate speciation when divergent traits are accompanied by divergent sexual behaviors. We provide empirical evidence that suggests that maternal sexual imprinting on a heritable, polymorphic mating trait mediates both female mate choice and malemale competition in a poison frog. We also demonstrate using a mathematical model that imprinted aggression biases toward rival males can act in concert with sexually imprinted female mate preferences to maintain a stable polymorphism and reduce gene flow between divergent mating phenotypes in sympatry. Thus, parental imprinting provides a plausible and effective mechanism by which a sexually-selected trait and the behaviors that act on it may co-diverge as a result of sexual selection alone, reducing gene flow between sympatric lineages and setting the stage for speciation.

#### **Appendix A Supplemental Information for Chapter 3**

## Appendix A.1 Visual and Acoustic Properties of the Simulated Intrusion

## **Appendix A.1.1 Intruder Models**



Appendix Figure 1 Visual properties of the intruder models

## **Appendix A.1.2 Acoustic Playback**

The spectral and temporal parameters of male advertisement calls do not differ significantly across the red-blue contact zone (Pröhl *et al.*, 2007; M. L. Dye, *unpublished data*), so we used the same call playback for trials in all four populations. We used a recorded call from a Dolphin Bay red male that had parameters within the ranges for all focal populations (dominant

Photographs and the reflectance spectra of the hand-painted red and blue plastic models used as simulated intruders. Solid lines show the reflectance of models, and shaded areas that enclose them show the range between the brightest and dullest males from a sample of 10 males of each morph in the contact zone.

frequency 5038.5 Hz, call rate: 0.009, call duration: 40 seconds, between-calls interval: 12 seconds). The sound pressure level of playbacks was adjusted to fit the value of a calling male (~ 61 dB at 60 cm from the source, measured by Velleman AVM2050; Crothers & Cummings, 2015).

## **Appendix A.2 Quantitative Photograph Color Scores**

PC1 captures the brightness (but much higher green and blue loadings) of the male dorsum; PC2 captures hue, or how blue the male was along the red-blue spectrum (**Appendix Table 1**). When grouped by eye, red, intermediate and blue morphs differ significantly in both PC1 (ANOVA,  $F_{2,241} = 20.95$ , p < .001) and PC2 (ANOVA,  $F_{2,241} = 114.33$ , p < .001). PC1 was highest in red males, lower in intermediate males, and lowest in blue males (Tukey *post hoc*, red – intermediate: p = 0.005, red-blue: p < .001, intermediate – blue: p = 0.002). PC2 was highest in blue males, lower in intermediate males, and lowest in red males (Tukey *post hoc*, red – intermediate: p < .001, red-blue: p < .001, intermediate – blue: p < .001).

#### Appendix Table 1 PCA for quantantative color scores

Results of a principal components analysis of mean red, green, and blue color scores (RGB values) from the dorsum of *O. pumilio* from polymorphic populations in Bocas del Toro, Panama. Color was measured in and averaged between five  $20 \times 20$  pixel areas on the dorsum using imageJ (Dugas *et al.*, 2015).

	Figanyahua	Variance Eurolained -			
	Eigenvalue	variance Explained	Red	Green	Blue
PC1	1.98	65.9%	-0.254	-0.704	-0.664
PC2	0.98	32.7%	-0.941	0.022	0.336



Appendix Figure 2 By-eye color categories plotted on quantitative color space

# Appendix A.3 Sample Size Breakdown

### Appendix Table 2 Sample size breakdown for the simulated intrusion experiment

Responsive males of each male color/model intruder color combination in the four populations.

	red monomorphic	high-red polymorphic			l po	high-blue lymorph	blue monomorphic	
intruder color	Red	red	int	blue	red	int	blue	blue
red	21	25	24	23	21	23	24	22
blue	27	20	25	23	20	25	26	23

#### **Appendix A.4 Analyses Excluding Samples with Conspecific Interactions**

In **3.4**, we included conspecific interactions (y/n) as a fixed effect in the statistical models that included our observations of all territorial males, as these activities lowered the potential time a male could interact with the simulated intruder. Here, we provide an alternative approach to addressing focal male interaction with conspecifics during trials: we re-ran all models presented in **3.4** with a dataset restricted to observations in which the focal male did not interact with conspecifics during the trial (original n = 372, in these analyses n = 251).

## **Appendix A.4.1 Does Male Aggression Pattern Vary with Population Morph Frequency?**

As was the case in the full dataset, there was no significant population × intruder color interaction in the likelihood that a focal territorial male (i) tracked, (ii) approached, (iii) called, or (iv) challenged the model intruder (**Appendix Table 3**). Also consistent with patterns in the full dataset, we found a significant population × intruder color interaction with respect to the likelihood that a focal male attacked the simulated intruder (**Appendix Table 3**).

#### Appendix Table 3 GLMs: male agonistic behaviors

Generalized linear models estimating the likelihood of a territorial male to (i) track, (ii) approach, (iii) call at, (iv) challenge and (v) attack the intruder model. Re-run from **Table 3-1** using a dataset that excluded all trials with conspecific interactions.

		Tra	ack	App	roach	С	all	Chall	enge	Att	ack
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR <sub>2</sub>	р	LR χ2	р
Population	3	3.80	0.284	1.03	0.792	1.53	0.675	6.62	0.085	9.98	0.019
intruder color	1	0.04	0.849	0.48	0.489	1.50	0.221	0.47	0.494	4.51	0.034
population × intruder color	3	0.53	0.911	1.50	0.681	1.17	0.759	5.37	0.146	14.62	0.002
perch height	1	0.12	0.912	0.09	0.771	0.02	0.895	3.26	0.071	0.10	0.749

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

In the two monomorphic populations, the reduced data set with only observations in which conspecific interactions did not occur revealed similar patterns as the full dataset: Focal males in the monomorphic red population were more likely to attack a red (10/15) than a blue (3/20) model intruder (GLM,  $LR\chi^2 = 7.60$ , df = 1, p = 0.006), and males in the monomorphic blue population were more likely to attack a blue (11/16) than a red (5/15) model intruder (GLM,  $LR\chi^2 = 3.99$ , df = 1, p = 0.046). In the full dataset presented in Results, we found that males in the two polymorphic populations were equally likely to attack red or blue simulated intruders. However, in this reduced dataset, males in the high-red polymorphic population were more likely to attack a blue (21/37) than a red (16/48) model intruder ( $LR\chi^2 = 4.81$ , df = 1, p = 0.028), and in the high-blue polymorphic population, this pattern was similar but non-significant (red model: 27/50; blue model: 17/50,  $LR\chi^2 = 3.60$ , df = 1, p = 0.058). In none of these four follow up models did perch height have a significant effect (GLM, all  $LR\chi^2 < 1.48$ , all p > 0.223).

Similar to the full dataset results, there was no effect of population, intruder color or the interaction term on the number of attacks (GLM, population:  $LR\chi^2 = 1.15$ , df = 3, p = 0.764; intruder color:  $LR\chi^2 = 1.17$ , df = 1, p = 0.279; interaction term:  $LR\chi^2 = 1.33$ , df = 3, p = 0.722). Perch height was non-significant ( $LR\chi^2 = 0.23$ , df = 1, p = 0.635) in this model.

# Appendix A.4.2 Do Males Bias Aggression toward Intruders of Their Own Color in the Polymorphic Populations?

In the high-red polymorphic population, patterns in the reduced dataset were similar to those in the full dataset. Neither the main effects of male color and intruder color nor their interaction were a significant predictor of the probability of attack, regardless of whether we treated color as categorical or used PC scores (**Appendix Table 4 & Appendix Table 5**). In the high-blue population, we found no significant effects when using all observations, and similarly found that there was no significant interaction effect between focal male and simulated intruder color (the key prediction of the "own-type" hypothesis) in this reduced data set. However, in the reduced data set, we found that males in the high-blue polymorphic population were more likely to attack a blue model intruder (**Appendix Table 4**). The intruder color effect was non-significant when we re-ran the model with color PC scores, but as was the case with the full dataset, the likelihood of attack was positively associated with focal male PC2 (**Appendix Table 5**).

#### Appendix Table 4 GLM: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations (excluding trials with

#### conspecific interactions)

Generalized linear models of the likelihood of attack in the two polymorphic populations, re-ran from **Table 3-2** using a dataset that excluded all trials with conspecific interactions.

Attack (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic		
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR χ2	p	
male color	2	3.67	0.159	1.16	0.560	
intruder color	1	0.21	0.650	4.98	0.026	
male × intruder color	2	1.66	0.436	2.03	0.362	
perch height	1	1.02	0.312	1.41	0.235	

#### Appendix Table 5 GLMs: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations (color scores, excluding

#### trials with conspecific interactions)

Generalized linear models of the likelihood of attack in the two polymorphic populations, re-run from **Appendix Table 6** using a dataset that excluded all trials with conspecific interactions.

Attack (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic	
Parameters	df	LR χ2	р	LR χ2	р
PC1	1	0.32	0.571	1.50	0.221
PC2	1	0.87	0.352	8.85	0.003
intruder color	1	3.62	0.057	2.29	0.065
$PC1 \times intruder color$	1	0.52	0.471	0.18	0.668
PC2 $\times$ intruder color	1	0.45	0.504	0.30	0.581
perch height	1	2.07	0.150	3.96	0.047

## **Appendix A.5 Supplemental Results**

#### Appendix Table 6 GLM: likelihood of attacking in the two polymorphic populations (color scores)

Generalized linear models of the likelihood of attack in the two polymorphic populations, re-run from **Table 3-2**, replacing by-eye color groups (red, intermediate and blue) with color score PC1 and PC2.

Attack (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic		
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	p	LR x2	p	
PC1	1	0.11	0.739	0.45	0.505	
PC2	1	0.35	0.554	6.49	0.011	
intruder color	1	0.94	0.332	0.81	0.369	
PC1 × intruder color	1	0.32	0.571	0.10	0.752	
$PC2 \times intruder color$	1	0.00	0.995	0.87	0.351	
conspecific interaction	1	6.90	0.009	0.76	0.383	
perch height	1	1.33	0.249	7.37	0.007	

The four tables below are generalized linear models evaluating the influence of male color (red, intermediate and blue), model intruder color (red, blue) and their interaction term on the likelihood of a territorial male to track (**Appendix Table 7**), approach (**Appendix Table 8**), call (**Appendix Table 9**) and challenge (**Appendix Table 10**) in the two polymorphic populations. Perch height and conspecific interaction (y/n) were included as covariates.

Track (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic	
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	p	LR $\chi 2$	р
male color	2	2.10	0.351	4.25	0.119
intruder color	1	1.87	0.171	0.60	0.436
male × intruder color	2	4.17	0.124	0.05	0.977
conspecific interactions	1	1.55	0.213	3.58	0.058
perch height	1	1.89	0.169	8.60	0.003

Appendix	Table	7	GLMs:	likelihood	of	tracking

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

Appraoch (y/n)		High-red polym	orphic	High-blue polymorphic		
Parameters	df	LR x2	p	LR χ2	р	
male color	2	2.77	0.250	1.77	0.412	
model color	1	0.01	0.929	0.004	0.952	
male × intruder color	2	1.71	0.424	0.26	0.878	
conspecific interactions	1	2.52	0.113	0.87	0.351	
perch height	1	0.47	0.491	4.92	0.027	

## Appendix Table 8 GLMs: likelihood of approaching

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

Call (y/n)		High-red polymorphic		High-blue polymorphic	
Parameters	df	LR χ2	р	LR χ2	p
male color	2	4.16	0.125	0.61	0.736
intruder color	1	0.16	0.687	0.26	0.610
male × intruder color	2	2.80	0.247	2.84	0.242
conspecific interactions	1	0.92	0.338	1.43	0.231
perch height	1	4.12	0.042	11.55	<.001

#### Appendix Table 9 GLMs: likelihood of calling

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

## Appendix Table 10 GLMs: likelihood of challenging

Challenge (y/n)		High-red polymorphic		High-blue polymorphic	
Parameters	df	LR $\chi 2$	р	LR $\chi 2$	р
male color	2	2.33	0.312	3.16	0.205
intruder color	1	0.09	0.758	0.03	0.858
male $\times$ intruder color	2	1.67	0.432	1.10	0.578
conspecific interactions	1	5.95	0.015	5.71	0.017
perch height	1	0.72	0.395	0.33	0.565

Bonferroni correction: alpha level is set to 0.01

# **Appendix B Supplemental Information for Chapter 5**

## **Appendix B.1 Recursion Equations**

The following recursion equations are based on the mating frequency table F described in **5.3.2.2**. Note that the recursion equation of  $x_4$  (T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>2</sub>) always equals zero because a T<sub>11</sub> offspring can only have phenotype 1 parents (T<sub>11</sub> or T<sub>12</sub>) and therefore it is impossible for these offspring to acquire P<sub>2</sub> via imprinting.

# **Maternal Imprinting**

$$x_{1}(t+1) = F_{1,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,1} + F_{4,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{1,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{4,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{5,2}$$

$$x_{2}(t+1) = \frac{1}{2} F_{2,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{1,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{4,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,2} + F_{1,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,3} + F_{4,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,3}$$

$$x_{3}(t+1) = \frac{1}{4} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{5,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,3}$$

$$x_{4}(t+1) = 0$$

$$x_{5}(t+1) = F_{3,1} + F_{6,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{3,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{6,2}$$

$$x_{6}(t+1) = \frac{1}{2} F_{3,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{6,2} + F_{3,3} + F_{6,3}$$

# **Paternal Imprinting**

$$x_{1}(t+1) = F_{1,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,1} + F_{4,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{1,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{4,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{5,2}$$

$$x_{2}(t+1) = \frac{1}{2} F_{2,1} + F_{3,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,1} + F_{6,1} + \frac{1}{2} F_{1,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{3,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{4,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{6,2}$$

$$x_{3}(t+1) = \frac{1}{4} F_{2,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{3,2} + \frac{1}{4} F_{5,2} + \frac{1}{2} F_{6,2}$$

$$x_{4}(t+1) = 0$$

$$x_{5}(t+1) = F_{1,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{2,3} + F_{4,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,3}$$

$$x_{6}(t+1) = \frac{1}{2} F_{2,3} + F_{3,3} + \frac{1}{2} F_{5,3} + F_{6,3}$$

#### **Appendix B.2 Numerical Analyses**

## Variables

The frequencies of the six phenogenotypes  $T_{11}P_1$ ,  $T_{12}P_1$ ,  $T_{22}P_1$ ,  $T_{11}P_2$ ,  $T_{12}P_2$  and  $T_{22}P_2$ , are denoted as  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ ,  $x_3$ ,  $x_4$ ,  $x_5$  and  $x_6$ , respectively (see **5.3.2.2**).

## Parameters

Female mate preference strengths are  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  and male aggression bias strengths are  $\beta_1$ and  $\beta_2$ . Females are  $1 + \alpha_k$  times as likely to mate with the imprinted phenotype k upon encounter, and males are  $1 + \beta_k$  times as aggressive to the imprinted phenotype in male-male competition.

#### **Appendix B.2.1 Basic Model: Symmetrical Selection**

In the basic model, we assumed symmetrical selective strength on both mating phenotypes (i.e.  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$  and  $\beta_1 = \beta_2$ ). The recursion equations were not solvable analytically with unknown  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , so we solved numerically with every combination of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  from the set {0.01, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100}, using Mathematica (Wolfram 2018). We applied the constraint  $x_6 = 1 - x_1 - x_2 - x_3 - x_4 - x_5$  and  $x_4 = 0$  (based on the  $x_4$  recursion equation, see previous section). For each combination, we found three to five biologically relevant equilibria: fixation to trait 1 ( $x_1$ =1), fixation to trait 2 ( $x_6$ =1), and between one and three polymorphic equilibria. We used  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_5$  to form the Jacobian matrix in each model and performed a linear stability analysis on these equilibria. The only possible stable polymorphic equilibrium found occurred when the trait 1 phenotype frequency = 0.5 (including T<sub>11</sub> and T<sub>12</sub>, calculated as  $x_1 + x_2 + x_4 + x_5$ ). The condition for instability of the polymorphic equilibrium (whether the absolute value of the leading
eigenvalue > 1) was determined numerically to be dependent on both female mate preference ( $\alpha$ ) and male aggression bias ( $\beta$ ). Maternal and paternal imprinting models yield similar results in terms of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  parameter space that allows for a stable polymorphism (Mathematica code and R code presenting these analyses, as well as the output csv files, are archived at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9628406).

We then proceed to determine each of the phenogenotype frequencies ( $x_1$  to  $x_6$ ) at the stable polymorphic equilibria of the trait 1 phenotype frequency = 0.5. For these analyses, we therefore added two additional constraints: i)  $x_1 + x_2 + x_4 + x_5 = 0.5$ , and ii)  $x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 0.5$ . The second constraint was added because at these equilibria, trait 1 phenotype ( $x_1 + x_2 + x_4 + x_5$ ) will equal the frequency of P<sub>1</sub> ( $x_1 + x_2 + x_3$ ) in the next generation. With these additional constraints, we can analytically solve the recursion equations with unknown  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . At equilibrium, the  $x_i$  (expressed in terms of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) are independent of  $\beta$  and can be expressed in terms of  $\alpha$  only. Note that the stability of these equilibria depends on the relative strength of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . We used these solutions to generate **Figure 5-2A** with a total of 6,561 simulations, including every combination of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ from 0.01 to 100, modeled every 10<sup>0.05</sup>. We also used the  $x_i$  expressions to calculate the phenogenotypic linkage disequilibrium(Goodisman *et al.*, 1998) between T and P:

$$D = freq (T_1P_1) - freq (T_1) \cdot freq (P_1) = (x_1 + \frac{1}{2}x_2) - (x_1 + \frac{1}{2}x_2 + x_4 + \frac{1}{2}x_5) (x_1 + x_2 + x_3).$$

We then calculated the proportion of maximum LD (calculated as  $\frac{D}{\sqrt{p_1p_2t_1t_2}}$ , hereafter  $D_{cor}$ ). The resulting  $D_{cor}$  by  $\alpha$  graph is presented in **Figure 5-2B**. The paternal imprinting model has a slightly higher phenogenotype linkage disequilibrium compared to the maternal imprinting model.

#### **Appendix B.2.2 Model Extension: Asymmetrical Selection**

Our basic model (presented in the main text) assumed symmetrical selective strength on both mating phenotypes (i.e.  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$  and  $\beta_1 = \beta_2$ ). We also analyzed scenarios in which the strength of behavioral bias differs between the P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub> individuals (i.e.  $\alpha_1 \neq \alpha_2$  and  $\beta_1 \neq \beta_2$ ). The recursion equations were not solvable analytically with unknown  $\alpha_k$  and  $\beta_k$ ; we therefore first held  $\alpha_l$  and  $\beta_l$  constant (starting with  $\alpha_l = \beta_l = 0.01$ ), and solved numerically with every combination of  $\alpha_2$  and  $\beta_2$  from the set {0.01, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100}. We then altered  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$ and repeated the process, so that we had 9 sets of 144 simulations, including every combination of  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  from the set {0.01, 1, 100}. Similar to the basic model, we used  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_5$  to form the Jacobian matrix in each parameter set, and performed a numerical linear stability analysis on these equilibria. When we found any stable polymorphic solution in a certain  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  combination, we re-ran that particular set of simulations with every combination of  $\alpha_2$  and  $\beta_2$  from 0.01 to 100, modeled every  $10^{0.2}$  for higher resolution graphs (Appendix Figure 3). We were unable to numerically solve the recursion equations with some parameter combinations; in these cases, we ran simulations consisting of iterations of the exact recursion equations with several initial phenogenotype frequencies to confirm whether there was a stable polymorphic equilibrium.

Deviation from symmetric selective strengths showed robust results regarding the previously described conditions for polymorphism stability: the two mating trait phenotypes can coexist stably in the population when negative frequency dependent selection generated by a male aggression bias counters the positive frequency dependent selection generated by female preference. However, the asymmetries allow polymorphisms to stabilize at a broader range of phenotype frequencies (**Appendix Figure 3**). If male aggression bias toward trait 1 is stronger

than that toward trait 2 (i.e.  $\beta_1 > \beta_2$ ), trait 2 frequency at the stable equilibrium increases; if the female preference strength for trait 1 is greater than that for trait 2 (i.e.  $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2$ ), trait 1 frequency at the stable equilibrium increases. The maternal imprinting and paternal imprinting models produced qualitatively similar results: there are slight differences (<0.1) in the equilibrium frequencies of phenogenotypes ( $x_1$  to  $x_6$ ) as well as the equilibrium frequency of the trait 1 phenotype ( $x_1+x_2+x_4+x_5$ ) for a given  $\alpha_k$  and  $\beta_k$  combination (**Appendix Figure 3**). Mathematica code and the output csv files are archived at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9628406.



Appendix Figure 3 Trait 1 phenotype frequency at stable polymorphic equilibrium

T<sub>1</sub> phenotype frequency (including T<sub>11</sub> and T<sub>12</sub> individuals,  $x_1 + x_2 + x_4 + x_5$ ) at the stable polymorphic equilibrium of the extended models (asymmetrical selection). Each panel represents a particular  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  combination from the set {0.01, 1, 100}, labeled on the top and the right. Within each panel, we ran every combination of  $\alpha_2$  and  $\beta_2$  from 0.01 to 100, with a step size of 10<sup>0.2</sup>. Axes are on log scales. The white area in each panel is the parameter space where no stable polymorphism can be found. T<sub>1</sub> phenotype frequency at polymorphic equilibrium for a given  $\alpha_k$  and  $\beta_k$  combination is slightly different in maternal and paternal imprinting models (< 0.1, not shown).

We also calculated the proportion of maximum LD ( $D_{cor}$ ) between T and P, as we had in the basic model analysis (**Appendix Figure 4**). The trait-behavior linkage is strongest when the trait 1 phenotype frequency ( $x_1 + x_2 + x_4 + x_5$ ) is close to 0.5. Similar to the symmetric models, the trait-behavior linkage roughly increases with  $\alpha_k$ , but decreases when the equilibrium phenotype frequency is too close to T<sub>1</sub> or T<sub>2</sub> fixation. Overall, the paternal imprinting models produced higher  $D_{cor}$  than maternal imprinting models, but the differences were very small (< 0.1, not shown).



Appendix Figure 4 Proportion of maximum linkage disequalibrium (Dcor) at stable polymorphic equilibrium

In this extended model, the value of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  varies with the phenotype that the individual imprinted on. Trait – behavior linkage disequilibrium between the trait genotype and the behavioral phenotype ( $D_{cor}$ , calculated as  $D/\sqrt{(p_1p_2t_1t_2)}$ ) at the stable polymorphic equilibrium. Each panel represents a particular combination of  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  from the set {0.01, 1, 100}, labelled on the top and the right. Within each panel, we ran combinations of  $\alpha_2$  and  $\beta_2$  from 0.01 to 100, with a step size of 100.2. Axes are on logarithmic scales. The figure presents results from maternal imprinting models. Overall, the paternal imprinting models produced higher  $D_{cor}$  at polymorphic equilibrium than did the maternal imprinting models, but the differences were very small (<0.1, not shown).

### **Appendix B.3 Effects of Starting Frequency**

To assess the extent to which the ability of the population to reach stable polymorphism depends upon the starting mating trait frequencies in the basic model (symmetrical selection), we ran simulations consisting of iterations of the exact recursion equations described above with a range of initial phenogenotype frequencies. We ran simulations of 2000 generations with T<sub>1</sub> initial frequency from the set {0.0001, 0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 0.25, 0.49, 0.6, 0.75, 0.9, 0.99, 0.999, 0.9999}. For certain parameter combinations, 2000 generations are not sufficient for the population to reach equilibrium; therefore, we also compared the final frequency with the initial frequency to determine if the population is moving toward T<sub>1</sub> fixation, T<sub>2</sub> fixation, or the stable polymorphism. To simplify the analysis, we only started with homozygotes (i.e.  $x_2 = x_5 = 0$ ). For each T<sub>1</sub> initial frequency  $t_1$ , we set the initial phenogenotype frequencies in two ways, so that the population started either with i) maximized LD: only  $T_{11}P_1$  and  $T_{22}P_2$  individuals;  $x_1 = t_1$ ,  $x_6 = 1 - t_1$ ,  $x_2 = x_3 = t_1$  $x_4 = x_5 = 0$ , or ii) no LD: mating trait and behavior combinations as expected from random assortment;  $x_1 = t_1^2$ ,  $x_3 = x_4 = t_1 (1 - t_1)$ ,  $x_6 = (1 - t_1)^2$ ,  $x_2 = x_5 = 0$ . For each  $t_1$  – LD combination, we ran every combination of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  from 0.01 to 100, with a step size of 10<sup>0.1</sup>. We therefore had 24 sets (12 initial frequencies, 2 LD criteria) of 1,681 simulations for both maternal and paternal imprinting models (Appendix Figure 5). Mathematica code and the output csv files are archived at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9628406.

The simulations show that it is possible for a rare allele (frequency = 0.0001) to increase in frequency and reach a stable polymorphism over a wide range of parameter space (tan area in **Appendix Figure 5**). Overall, the rarer an allele initially is in the population, the more restricted the parameter space that allows a stable polymorphism to evolve. In the area where there is no stable polymorphism, the threshold that leads to dominant allele (T<sub>1</sub>) fixation over a polymorphism, versus recessive allele (T<sub>2</sub>) fixation over a polymorphism, is asymmetric: the recessive allele requires a greater starting allele frequency (as evidenced by the predominant fixation of T<sub>1</sub> in the  $t_1 = 0.49$  column, see **Appendix Figure 5**). However, the exact starting frequency threshold depends on the mechanism of imprinting (maternal vs paternal) as well as the starting LD condition (e.g. **Appendix Figure 5**,  $t_1 = 0.49$ ). Paternal imprinting has a larger parameter space that allows stable polymorphism to evolve compared to maternal imprinting, but the difference is very small. The starting LD condition also influences the parameter space that polymorphism and which allele becomes fixed when there is no stable polymorphism, but again the difference is small.



Appendix Figure 5 Effects of starting frequency on polymorphism maintenance

Simulations of 2000 generations demonstrating the effects of starting allele frequencies on polymorphism maintenance. Each panel represents a combination of a particular starting T<sub>1</sub> frequency (t<sub>1</sub>, labeled on top), mating trait-behavior association (phenogenotypic linkage disequilibrium, labeled on right), and types of imprinting (maternal or paternal; labeled on right). Within each panel, we ran every combination of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  from 0.01 to 100, with a step size of  $10^{0.1}$ . Axes are on log scales.

# **Appendix B.4 Incomplete Imprinting**

# Appendix B.4.1 Behavioral Pattern of the Individuals that Fail to Imprint

We considered a scenario in which not every individual imprint successfully on the parent's phenotype. Conceptually, we considered three alternative hypotheses: individuals that fail to imprint i) have no behavioral bias, ii) display a genetically determined behavioral bias, and iii) display behavioral bias toward their own phenotype (self-referent phenotype matching). Results suggest that ii) and iii) are unlikely. If the individuals that failed to imprint develop a behavioral pattern according to their genes or their mating phenotype, we would expect the behavioral bias (toward own color) in the pure-bred treatment to be stronger than the behavioral bias (toward the foster color) in the cross-fostered treatment (as individuals who failed to imprint would be expected to show a bias in the opposite direction). However, we did not detect any significant difference between the strength of the behavioral biases of these two groups (unpaired two-sided, two-sample permutational t test; all P > 0.33, for both male and female offspring, based on proportions of both association time and approaches). Therefore, it seems most likely for the individuals that fail to imprint to display no preference/aggression bias. We therefore made the assumption that the individuals that fail to imprint on the parent show no aggression bias/mate preference in the next section.

#### **Appendix B.4.2 Modeling Incomplete Imprinting**

We added an imprinting success parameter *S*, which represents the proportion of offspring that succeed in imprinting on the parent's phenotype (equivalent to an offspring imprinting on the

parent phenotype with the probability S). For the remaining 1 - S percent that fail to imprint, they display no mate preference (females) or aggression bias (males; see below for justification of this assumption). We incorporated imprinting success S into the male-male competition and female mate choice stages in the life cycle described in **5.3.2**:

#### **Male-male Competition**

In our main model males are  $1+\beta_k$  times as aggressive toward the imprinted mating trait phenotype k. The total aggression received by mating phenotype 1, for example, is  $A_1 = (1 + \beta_k)p_1$  $+ p_2$ , where  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  represent the frequencies of trait 1- and trait 2-biased males, respectively ( $p_1$  $= x_1 + x_2 + x_3$ ,  $p_1 = x_4 + x_5 + x_6$ ) Incorporating imprinting success S, the total aggression received by mating phenotype 1 becomes

$$A_1 = (1 + \beta_1) \cdot S \cdot p_1 + (1 - S)p_1 + p_2 = (1 - S \cdot \beta_1)p_1 + p_2,$$

which is equivalent having a male aggression bias strength of  $S \cdot \beta_1$ .

## **Female Mate Choice**

In our main model, females choose their mates according to the behavior "locus" P, such that upon encounter, females are  $1 + \alpha_k$  times as likely to mate with males possessing the imprinted mating phenotype k. Thus, the frequency of mating between each combination of male genotype i and female phenogenotype j is:

$$F_{i,j} = \frac{x_{i,m}^* x_{j,f}^* (1 + d_{i,j} \alpha_k)}{\sum_i x_{i,m}^* (1 + d_{i,j} \alpha_k)} ,$$

where  $d_{i,j} = 1$  if the female behavior locus P matches the male trait phenotype T (i = 1 or 2 with j = 1, 2 or 3, and i = 3 with j = 4, 5 or 6) and  $d_{i,j} = 0$  otherwise, and where k = 1 when j = 1, 2 or 3, and k = 2 when j = 4, 5, or 6. Incorporating incomplete imprinting success, the frequency of mating between T<sub>11</sub>P<sub>1</sub> female and T<sub>11</sub> male (F<sub>1,1</sub>), for example, becomes

$$F_{1,1} = \frac{x_{1,m}^* x_{1,f}^* ((1+\alpha_1) \cdot \mathsf{S} + (1-\mathsf{S}))}{x_{1,m}^* ((1+\alpha_1) \cdot \mathsf{S} + (1-\mathsf{S})) + x_{2,m}^* + x_{3,m}^*} = \frac{x_{1,m}^* x_{1,f}^* (1+\mathsf{S} \cdot \alpha_1)}{x_{1,m}^* (1+\mathsf{S} \cdot \alpha_1) + x_{2,m}^* + x_{3,m}^*}$$

which is equivalent to having a female preference strength of  $S \cdot \alpha_1$ .

Thus, in both cases, our parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  could include a linear scaling factor that describes the proportion of the population that successfully imprinted. The figures in the main text can therefore be interpreted as including in their parameters the effective strength of preference (for  $\alpha$ ) or aggression bias (for  $\beta$ ) of the pool of individuals with that genotype, given that imprinting is only partly successful.

## **Bibliography**

- Anderson, C.N. & Grether, G.F. 2010. Interspecific aggression and character displacement of competitor recognition in *Hetaerina* damselflies. *Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. B* 277: 549–55.
- Andersson, M.B. 1994. Sexual selection. Princeton University Press.
- Arnegard, M.E. & Kondrashov, A.S. 2004. Sympatric speciation by sexual selection alone is unlikely. *Evolution* 58: 222–237.
- Arnold, S.J., Verrell, P.A., Tilley, S.G.S. & Url, S. 1996. The evolution of asymmetry in sexual isolation: a model and a test case. *Evolution* **50**: 1024–1033.
- Arnqvist, G. & Rowe, L. 2005. Sexual conflict. Princeton University Press.
- Arnqvist, G. & Rowe, L. 1995. Sexual Conflict and Arms Races between the Sexes: A Morphological Adaptation for Control of Mating in a Female Insect. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 261: 123–127.
- Barton, N., H., & Hewitt, G., M., 1985. Analysis of Hybrid Zones. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 16: 113–148.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. 2014. lme4: Linear mixed-effects models using Eigen and S4. *R Packag. version* 1: 1–23.
- Baugh, J.R. & Forester, D.C. 1994. Prior residence effect in the dart-poison frog, *Dendrobates pumilio. Behaviour* 131: 207–224.
- Bee, M. a. 2003. A test of the "dear enemy effect" in the strawberry dart-poison frog (*Dendrobates pumilio*). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **54**: 601–610.
- Berglund, A., Bisazza, A. & Pilastro, A. 1996. Armaments and ornaments: an evolutionary explanation of traits of dual utility. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 58: 385–399.
- Bewick, E.R. & Dyer, K.A. 2014. Reinforcement shapes clines in female mate discrimination in *Drosophila subquinaria. Evolution* **68**: 3082–3094.
- Bolnick, D.I., Hendrix, K., Jordan, L.A., Veen, T., Brock, C.D. & Bolnick, D.I. 2016. Intruder colour and light environment jointly determine how nesting male stickleback respond to simulated territorial intrusions. *Biol. Lett.* **12**.
- Borgia, G. & Coleman, S.W. 2000. Co-option of male courtship signals from aggressive display in bowerbirds. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 267: 1735–1740.

Boughman, J.W. 2002. How sensory drive can promote speciation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 17: 571-

577.

- Brodersen, J., Howeth, J.G. & Post, D.M. 2015. Emergence of a novel prey life history promotes contemporary sympatric diversification in a top predator. *Nat. Commun.* **6**: 8115. Nature Publishing Group.
- Brown, J.L., Maan, M.E., Cummings, M.E. & Summers, K. 2010. Evidence for selection on coloration in a Panamanian poison frog: a coalescent-based approach. J. Biogeogr. 37: 891– 901.
- Brust, D.G. 1993. Maternal brood care by *Dendrobates pumilio*:a frog that feeds its young. J. *Herpetol.* 27: 96–98.
- Bunnell, P. 1973. Vocalizations in the territorial behavior of the frog *Dendrobates pumilio*. *Copeia* **2**: 277–284.
- Candolin, U. 2003. The use of multiple cues in mate choice. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 78: 575–595.
- Canty, A. & Ripley, B. 2012. boot: Bootstrap R (S-Plus). Functions. R Packag. version 1.3-18.
- Cox, C.R. & Le Boeuf, B.J. 1977. Female Incitation of Male Competition: A Mechanism in Sexual Selection. *Am. Nat.* **111**: 317–335.
- Crothers, L.R. & Cummings, M.E. 2015. A multifunctional warning signal behaves as an agonistic status signal in a poison frog. *Behav. Ecol.* **26**: 560–568.
- Culumber, Z.W., Ochoa, O.M. & Rosenthal, G.G. 2014. Assortative mating and the maintenance of population structure in a natural hybrid zone. *Am. Nat.* **184**: 225–32.
- Darst, C.R. 2006. Predator learning, experimental psychology and novel predictions for mimicry dynamics. *Anim. Behav.* **71**: 743–748.
- de Luna, A.G., Hödl, W. & Amézquita, A. 2010. Colour, size and movement as visual subcomponents in multimodal communication by the frog *Allobates femoralis*. *Anim. Behav.* 79: 739–745.
- Dijkstra, P.D. & Border, S.E. 2018. How does male-male competition generate negative frequency-dependent selection and disruptive selection during speciation? *Curr. Zool.* **64**: 89–99.
- Dijkstra, P.D. & Groothuis, T.G.G. 2011. Male-male competition as a force in evolutionary diversification: evidence in haplochromine cichlid fish. *Int. J. Evol. Biol.* 2011: 689254.
- Dijkstra, P.D., Lindström, J., Metcalfe, N.B., Hemelrijk, C.K., Brendel, M., Seehausen, O., *et al.* 2010. Frequency-dependent social dominance in a color polymorphic cichlid fish. *Evolution* **64**: 2797–2807.

- Dijkstra, P.D., Seehausen, O., Fraterman, R.E. & Groothuis, T.G. 2008a. Learned aggression biases in males of Lake Victoria cichlid fish. *Anim. Behav.* **76**: 649–655.
- Dijkstra, P.D., Van Der Zee, E.M. & Groothuis, T.G.G. 2008b. Territory quality affects female preference in a Lake Victoria cichlid fish. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **62**: 747–755.
- Donnelly, M.A. 1989. Demographic effects of reproductive resource supplementation in a territorial frog, *Dendrobates pumilio*. *Ecol. Monogr.* **59**: 207–221.
- Dougherty, L.R. & Shuker, D.M. 2015. The effect of experimental design on the measurement of mate choice: a meta-analysis. *Behav. Ecol.* **26**: 311–319.
- Dreher, C.E., Cummings, M.E. & Pröhl, H. 2015. An Analysis of Predator Selection to Affect Aposematic Coloration in a Poison Frog Species. *PLoS One* **10**: e0130571.
- Dreher, C.E. & Pröhl, H. 2014. Multiple sexual signals: calls over colors for mate attraction in an aposematic, color-diverse poison frog. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* **2**: 1–10.
- Dugas, M.B. 2018. Simple observations with complex implications: what we have learned and can learn about parental care from a frog that feeds its young. *Zool. Anz.* **273**: 192–202.
- Dugas, M.B., Halbrook, S.R., Killius, A.M., del Sol, J.F. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2015. Colour and escape behaviour in polymorphic populations of an aposematic poison frog. *Ethology* 121: 1–10.
- Dugas, M.B. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2015. A captive breeding experiment reveals no evidence of reproductive isolation among lineages of a polytypic poison frog. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* **116**: 52–62.
- Dugas, M.B. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2016. Conspicuous and cryptic morphs of a polytypic poison frog differ in reproductive output because of differences in tadpole performance, not parental effort. *Ethol. Ecol. Evol.* 28: 441–451.
- Dugas, M.B., Wamelink, C.N., Killius, A.M. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2016. Parental care is beneficial for offspring, costly for mothers, and limited by family size in an egg-feeding frog. *Behav. Ecol.* 27: 476–483.
- Dynesius, M. & Jansson, R. 2013. Persistence of within-species lineages: a neglected control of speciation rates. *Evolution* **68**: 923–34.
- Eakley, A.L. & Houde, A.E. 2004. Possible role of female discrimination against "redundant" males in the evolution of colour pattern polymorphism in guppies. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* **271**: 299–301.
- Edward, D.A. 2015. The description of mate choice. Behav. Ecol. 26: 301-310.
- Felsenstein, J. 1981. Skepticism towards Santa Rosalia, or Why are there so few kinds of animals? *Evolution* **35**: 124–138.

Ford, E.B. 1945. Polymorphism. *Biol. Rev.* 20: 73–88.

Fox, J. & Weisberg, S. 2018. An R Companion to Applied Regression. Sage publications.

- Funk, W.C., Donnelly, M.A. & Lips, K.R. 2005. Alternative views of amphibian toe-clipping. *Nature* **433**: 193.
- Gade, M.R., Hill, M. & Saporito, R.A. 2016. Color assortative mating in a mainland population of the poison frog *Oophaga pumilio*. *Ethology* **122**: 1–8.
- Gage, M.J.G., Parker, G. a, Nylin, S. & Wiklund, C. 2002. Sexual selection and speciation in mammals, butterflies and spiders. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 269: 2309–2316.
- Galeano, S.P. & Harms, K.E. 2016. Coloration in the polymorphic frog *Oophaga pumilio* associates with level of aggressiveness in intraspecific and interspecific behavioral interactions. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **70**: 83–97.
- Gardner, E.A. & Graves, B.M. 2005. Responses of resident male *Dendrobates pumilio* to territory intruders. *J. Herpetol.* **39**: 248–253.
- Garren, S.T. 2018. jmuOutlier: Permutation Tests for Nonparametric Statistics.
- Gehara, M., Summers, K. & Brown, J.L. 2013. Population expansion, isolation and selection: novel insights on the evolution of color diversity in the strawberry poison frog. *Evol. Ecol.* 27: 797–824.
- Goodisman, M.A.D., Shoemaker, D.D. & Asmussen, M.A. 1998. Cytonuclear Theory for Haplodiploid Species and X-Linked Genes. II. Stepping-Stone Models of Gene Flow and Application to a Fire Ant Hybrid Zone. *Evolution* **52**: 1423.
- Gosner, K.L. 1960. A Simplified Table for Staging Anuran Embryos Larvae with Notes on Identification. *Herpetologica* 16: 183–190.
- Graves, B.M. 1999. Diel activity patterns of the sympatric poison dart frogs, *Dendrobates auratus* and *D. pumilio*, in Costa Rica. *J. Herpetol.* **33**: 375–381.
- Graves, B.M., Stanley, K.A. & Gardner, E.A. 2005. Correlates of vocal display in a Costa Rican population of strawberry poison-dart frogs, *Dendrobates pumilio*. J. Herpetol. **39**: 101–107.
- Gray, S.M. & McKinnon, J.S. 2007. Linking color polymorphism maintenance and speciation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 22: 71–9.
- Grether, G.F., Losin, N., Anderson, C.N. & Okamoto, K. 2009. The role of interspecific interference competition in character displacement and the evolution of competitor recognition. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 84: 617–35.
- Grether, G.F., Peiman, K.S., Tobias, J.A. & Robinson, B.W. 2017. Causes and Consequences of Behavioral Interference between Species. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **32**: 760–772. Elsevier Ltd.

- Gross, M.R. 1991. Evolution of alternative reproductive strategies: frequency-dependent sexual selection in male bluegill sunfish. *Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci.* **332**: 59–66.
- Haase, A. & Pröhl, H. 2002. Female activity patterns and aggressiveness in the strawberry poison frog *Dendrobates pumilio* (Anura: Dendrobatidae). *Amphibia-Reptilia* **23**: 129–140.
- Hansen, B.T. & Slagsvold, T. 2003. Rival imprinting: interspecifically cross-fostered tits defend their territories against heterospecific intruders. *Anim. Behav.* **65**: 1117–1123.
- Hardwick, K.M., Robertson, J.M. & Rosenblum, E.B. 2013. Asymmetrical mate preference in recently adapted White Sands and black lava populations of *Sceloporus undulatus*. *Curr. Zool.* **59**: 20–30.
- Hauswaldt, J.S., Ludewig, A.-K., Vences, M. & Pröhl, H. 2011. Widespread co-occurrence of divergent mitochondrial haplotype lineages in a Central American species of poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*). J. Biogeogr. 38: 711–726.
- Hauswaldt, J.S., Ludewig, A.K., Hagemann, S., Pröhl, H. & Vences, M. 2009. Ten microsatellite loci for the strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*). *Conserv. Genet.* **10**: 1935–1937.
- Hayashi, K. 1985. Alternative mating strategies in the water strider *Gerris elongatus* (Heteroptera, Gerridae). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **16**: 301–306.
- Hebets, E.A. & Vink, C.J. 2007. Experience leads to preference: Experienced females prefer brush-legged males in a population of syntopic wolf spiders. *Behav. Ecol.* **18**: 1010–1020.
- Hegna, R.H., Saporito, R. a. & Donnelly, M.A. 2013. Not all colors are equal: Predation and color polytypism in the aposematic poison frog *Oophaga pumilio*. *Evol. Ecol.* **27**: 831–845.
- Hoekstra, H.E., Hirschmann, R.J., Bundey, R.A., Insel, P.A. & Crossland, J.P. 2006. A Single Amino Acid Mutation Contributes to Adaptive Beach Mouse Color Pattern. *Science* **313**: 101–104.
- Hothorn, T., Bretz, F. & Westfall, P. 2008. Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical J.* **50**: 346–363.
- Hsu, Y., Earley, R.L. & Wolf, L.L. 2006. Modulation of aggressive behaviour by fighting experience: mechanisms and contest outcomes. *Biol. Rev.* 81: 33–74.
- Hunt, J., Breuker, C.J., Sadowski, J. a & Moore, A.J. 2009. Male-male competition, female mate choice and their interaction: determining total sexual selection. *J. Evol. Biol.* **22**: 13–26.
- Irwin, D.E. & Price, T. 1999. Sexual imprinting, learning and speciation. *Heredity* 82: 347–354.
- Jennions, M.D. & Petrie, M. 1997. Variation in mate choice and mating preferences: a review of causes and consequences. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* **72**: 283–327.
- Jiggins, C.D., Estrada, C. & Rodrigues, a. 2004. Mimicry and the evolution of premating isolation

in Heliconlus melpomene Linnaeus. J. Evol. Biol. 17: 680-691.

- Jiggins, C.D., Naisbit, R.E., Coe, R.L. & Mallet, J. 2001. Reproductive isolation caused by colour pattern mimicry. *Nature* 411: 302–305.
- Killius, A.M. & Dugas, M.B. 2014. Tadpole transport by male *Oophaga pumilio* (Anura: Dendrobatidae): An observation and brief review. *Herpetol. Notes* **7**: 747–749.
- Kirkpatrick, M. & Ravigné, V. 2002. Speciation by natural and sexual selection: models and experiments. *Am. Nat.* **159**: 22–35.
- Kirkpatrick, P. 1982. Sexual selection and the evolution of female mate choice.
- Kokko, H., Klug, H. & Jennions, M.D. 2012. Unifying cornerstones of sexual selection: Operational sex ratio, Bateman gradient and the scope for competitive investment. *Ecol. Lett.* 15: 1340–1351.
- Kokko, H. & Rankin, D.J. 2006. Lonely hearts or sex in the city? Density-dependent effects in mating systems. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **361**: 319–334.
- Kozak, G.M., Head, M.L. & Boughman, J.W. 2011. Sexual imprinting on ecologically divergent traits leads to sexual isolation in sticklebacks. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 278: 2604–2610.
- Kraaijeveld, K., Kraaijeveld-Smit, F.J.L. & Maan, M.E. 2011. Sexual selection and speciation: The comparative evidence revisited. *Biol. Rev.* 86: 367–377.
- Laland, K.N. 1994. On the Evolutionary Consequences of Sexual Imprinting. *Evolution* **48**: 477–489.
- Lande, R. 1981. Models of speciation by sexual selection on polygenic traits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **78**: 3721–3725.
- Limerick, S. 1980. Courtship behavior and oviposition of the poison-arrow frog *Dendrobates pumilio*. *Herpetologica* **36**: 69–71. JSTOR.
- Lipshutz, S.E. 2018. Interspecific competition, hybridization, and reproductive isolation in secondary contact: missing perspectives on males and females. *Curr. Zool.* **64**: 75–88.
- Lorenz, K. 1935. Der kkumpan in der umwelt des vogels. J. fur Ornithol. 83: 137-213,289-413.
- Maan, M.E. & Cummings, M.E. 2008. Female preferences for aposematic signal components in a polymorphic poison frog. *Evolution* **62**: 2334–45.
- Maan, M.E. & Cummings, M.E. 2012. Poison frog colors are honest signals of toxicity, particularly for bird predators. *Am. Nat.* **179**: E1-14.
- Maan, M.E. & Cummings, M.E. 2009. Sexual dimorphism and directional sexual selection on aposematic signals in a poison frog. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **106**: 19072–7.

- MacGregor, H.E.A., While, G.M., Barrett, J., Pérez i de Lanuza, G., Carazo, P., Michaelides, S., *et al.* 2017. Experimental contact zones reveal causes and targets of sexual selection in hybridizing lizards. *Funct. Ecol.* **31**: 742–752.
- Martin, M.D. & Mendelson, T.C. 2013. Incomplete behavioural isolation and asymmetric female preference in darter sister species (Percidae: Etheostoma). J. Fish Biol. 83: 1371–1380.
- Martin, P.R., Freshwater, C. & Ghalambor, C.K. 2017. The outcomes of most aggressive interactions among closely related bird species are asymmetric. *PeerJ* **5**: e2847.
- McCullough, E.L., Miller, C.W. & Emlen, D.J. 2016. Why Sexually Selected Weapons Are Not Ornaments. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **31**: 742–751.
- McKinnon, J.S. & Pierotti, M.E.R. 2010. Colour polymorphism and correlated characters: Genetic mechanisms and evolution. *Mol. Ecol.* 19: 5101–5125.
- Meuche, I., Brusa, O., Linsenmair, K.E., Keller, A. & Pröhl, H. 2013. Only distance matters nonchoosy females in a poison frog population. *Front. Zool.* **10**: 29. Frontiers in Zoology.
- Meuche, I., Linsenmair, K.E. & Pröhl, H. 2012. Intrasexual competition, territoriality and acoustic communication in male strawberry poison frogs (*Oophaga pumilio*). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 66: 613–621.
- Meuche, I. & Pröhl, H. 2011. Alternative mating tactics in the strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*). *Herpetol. J.* **21**: 275–277.
- Mikami, O.K., Kohda, M. & Kawata, M. 2004. A new hypothesis for species coexistence: Malemale repulsion promotes coexistence of competing species. *Popul. Ecol.* **46**: 213–217.
- Miller, C.W. & Svensson, E.I. 2014. Sexual selection in complex environments. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 59: 427–45.
- Moore, A.J. & Moore, P.J. 1999. Balancing sexual selection through opposing mate choice and male competition. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **266**: 711–716.
- Morris, M.R., Tudor, M.S. & Dubois, N.S. 2007. Sexually selected signal attracted females before deterring aggression in rival males. *Anim. Behav.* 74: 1189–1197.
- Narins, P.M., Hödl, W. & Grabul, D.S. 2003. Bimodal signal requisite for agonistic behavior in a dart-poison frog, *Epipedobates femoralis*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100: 577–580.
- Navarro, D. 2015. lsr: Learning statistics with R: A tutorial for psychology students and other beginners.
- Nokelainen, O., Hegna, R.H., Reudler, J.H., Lindstedt, C. & Mappes, J. 2011. Trade-off between warning signal efficacy and mating success in the wood tiger moth. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **279**: 257–265.

- Otto, S.P., Servedio, M.R. & Nuismer, S.L. 2008. Frequency-dependent selection and the evolution of assortative mating. *Genetics* **179**: 2091–2112.
- Panhuis, T.M., Butlin, R.K., Zuk, M. & Tregenza, T. 2001. Sexual selection and speciation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 16: 364–371.
- Pearson, S. & Rohwer, S. a. 2000. Asymmetries in male aggression across an avian hybrid zone. *Behav. Ecol.* **11**: 93–101.
- Pröhl, H. 1997. Territorial behaviour of the strawberry poison-dart frog, *Dendrobates pumilio*. *Amphibia-Reptilia* **18**: 437–442. Brill.
- Pröhl, H. & Berke, O. 2001. Spatial distributions of male and female strawberry poison frogs and their relation to female reproductive resources. *Oecologia* **129**: 534–42.
- Pröhl, H., Hagemann, S., Karsch, J. & Höbel, G. 2007. Geographic Variation in Male Sexual Signals in Strawberry Poison Frogs (*Dendrobates pumilio*). *Ethology* 113: 825–837.
- Pröhl, H. & Hödl, W. 1999. Parental investment, potential reproductive rates, and mating system in the strawberry frog, *Dendrobates pumilio. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **46**: 215–220.
- Pryke, S.R. & Griffith, S.C. 2006. Red dominates black: agonistic signalling among head morphs in the colour polymorphic Gouldian finch. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* **273**: 949–57.
- Qvarnström, A. & Forsgren, E. 1998. Should females prefer dominant males? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **13**: 498–501.
- Qvarnström, A., Vallin, N. & Rudh, A. 2012. The role of male contest competition over mates in speciation. *Curr. Zool.* 58: 493–509.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Reichard, M., Bryja, J., Ondračková, M., Dávidová, M., Kaniewska, P. & Smith, C. 2005. Sexual selection for male dominance reduces opportunities for female mate choice in the European bitterling (Rhodeus sericeus). *Mol. Ecol.* 14: 1533–1542.
- Reichert, M.S. & Quinn, J.L. 2017. Cognition in Contests: Mechanisms, Ecology, and Evolution. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **32**: 773–785. Elsevier Ltd.
- Reynolds, R.G. & Fitzpatrick, B.M. 2007. Assortative mating in poison-dart frogs based on an ecologically important trait. *Evolution* **61**: 2253–2259.
- Richards-Zawacki, C.L. & Cummings, M.E. 2011. Intraspecific reproductive character displacement in a polymorphic poison dart frog, *Dendrobates pumilio*. *Evolution* **65**: 259–267.
- Richards-Zawacki, C.L., Wang, I.J. & Summers, K. 2012. Mate choice and the genetic basis for colour variation in a polymorphic dart frog: Inferences from a wild pedigree. *Mol. Ecol.* 21:

3879–3892.

- Richards-Zawacki, C.L., Yeager, J. & Bart, H.P.S. 2013. No evidence for differential survival or predation between sympatric color morphs of an aposematic poison frog. *Evol. Ecol.* **27**: 783–795.
- Ritchie, M.G. 2007. Sexual Selection and Speciation. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 38: 79–102.
- Ritchie, M.G., Butlin, R.K. & Hewitt, G. 1989. Assortative mating across a hybrid zone in *Chorthippus parrallelus* (Orthoptera: Acrididea). J. Evol. Biol. 2: 339–352.
- Rodríguez, R.L., Rebar, D. & Fowler-Finn, K.D. 2013. The evolution and evolutionary consequences of social plasticity in mate preferences. *Anim. Behav.* **85**: 1041–1047. Elsevier Ltd.
- Rojas, B. 2017. Behavioural, ecological, and evolutionary aspects of diversity in frog colour patterns. *Biol. Rev.* **92**: 1059–1080.
- Rosenblum, E.B., Sarver, B.A.J., Brown, J.W., Des Roches, S., Hardwick, K.M., Hether, T.D., *et al.* 2012. Goldilocks Meets Santa Rosalia: An Ephemeral Speciation Model Explains Patterns of Diversification Across Time Scales. *Evol. Biol.* **39**: 255–261.
- Rosenthal, G.G. 2017. *Mate Choice: The Evolution of Sexual Decision Making from Microbes to Humans*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Rudh, A., Breed, M.F. & Qvarnström, A. 2013. Does aggression and explorative behaviour decrease with lost warning coloration? *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* **108**: 116–126.
- Rudh, A., Rogell, B., Håstad, O. & Qvarnström, A. 2011. Rapid population divergence linked with co-variation between coloration and sexual display in strawberry poison dart frog. *Evolution* 65: 1271–1282.
- Rundle, H.D. & Nosil, P. 2005. Ecological speciation. Ecol. Lett. 8: 336-352.
- Ruxton, G.D., Sherratt, T.N. & Speed, M.P. 2004. Avoiding attack: the evolutionary ecology of crypsis, warning signals, and mimicry. Oxford University Press.
- Saporito, R.A., Zuercher, R., Roberts, M., Kenneth, G. & Donnelly, M.A. 2007. Experimental Evidence for Aposematism in the Dendrobatid Poison Frog *Oophaga pumilio*. *Copeia* **2007**: 1006–1011.
- Savage, J.M. 1968. The Dendrobatid Frogs of Central America. Copeia 1968: 745-776.
- Schneider, C.A., Rasband, W.S. & Eliceiri, K.W. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat. Methods* **9**: 671. Nature Publishing Group.
- Scordato, E.S.C., Symes, L.B., Mendelson, T.C. & Safran, R.J. 2014. The Role of Ecology in Speciation by Sexual Selection: A Systematic Empirical Review. *J. Hered.* **105**: 782–794.

- Seehausen, O. & Schluter, D. 2004. Male-male competition and nuptial-colour displacement as a diversifying force in Lake Victoria cichlid fishes. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* **271**: 1345–53.
- Sefc, K.M., Hermann, C.M., Steinwender, B., Brindl, H., Zimmermann, H., Mattersdorfer, K., *et al.* 2015. Asymmetric dominance and asymmetric mate choice oppose premating isolation after allopatric divergence. *Ecol. Evol.* **5**: 1549–1562.
- Servedio, M.R. & Boughman, J.W. 2017. The role of sexual selection in local adaptation and speciation. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.* **48**: 85–109.
- Servedio, M.R. & Bürger, R. 2014. The counterintuitive role of sexual selection in species maintenance and speciation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **111**: 8113–8118.
- Servedio, M.R., Doorn, G.S. Van, Kopp, M., Frame, A.M. & Nosil, P. 2011. Magic traits in speciation: "magic" but not rare? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 26: 389–397.
- Shurtliff, Q.R., Murphy, P.J., Yeiter, J.D. & Matocq, M.D. 2013. Experimental evidence for asymmetric mate preference and aggression: behavioral interactions in a woodrat (Neotoma) hybrid zone. *BMC Evol. Biol.* **13**: 220.
- Shuster, S.M. 2010. Alternative Mating Strategies. In: *Evolutionary Behavioral Ecology* (D. F. Westneat & C. W. Fox, eds), pp. 434–450. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Siddiqi, A., Cronin, T.W., Loew, E.R., Vorobyev, M. & Summers, K. 2004. Interspecific and intraspecific views of color signals in the strawberry poison frog *Dendrobates pumilio*. J. *Exp. Biol.* 207: 2471–85.
- Sinervo, B. & Lively, C.M. 1996. The rock-paper-scissors game and the evolution of alternative male strategies. *Nature* **380**: 240–243.
- Singh, B.N. & Sisodia, S. 1999. Rare-male mating advantage in *Drosophila*. *Curr. Sci.* **76**: 141–150.
- Skaug, H., Fournier, D., Nielsen, A., Magnusson, A. & Bolker, B. 2011. glmmADMB: generalized linear mixed models using AD Model Builder. *R Packag. version 0.6* 5: r143.
- Smith, M.J. 1962. Disruptive Selection, Polymorphism and Sympatric Speciation. *Nature* **195**: 60–62.
- Staudt, K., Ospina, S.M., Mebs, D. & Pröhl, H. 2010. Foraging behaviour and territoriality of the strawberry poison frog (*Oophaga pumilio*) in dependence of the presence of ants. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 31: 217–227.
- Stevens, M., Párraga, C.A., Cuthill, I.C., Partridge, J.C. & Troscianko, T.S. 2007. Using digital photography to study animal coloration. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* **90**: 211–237.
- Stynoski, J.L. 2009. Discrimination of offspring by indirect recognition in an egg-feeding dendrobatid frog, *Oophaga pumilio. Anim. Behav.* **78**: 1351–1356.

- Stynoski, J.L. & Noble, V.R. 2012. To beg or to freeze: Multimodal sensory integration directs behavior in a tadpole. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **66**: 191–199.
- Summers, K., Cronin, T.W. & Kennedy, T. 2004. Cross-breeding of distinct color morphs of the strawberry poison frog (*Dendrobates pumilio*) from the Bocas del Toro Archipelago, Panama. *J. Herpetol.* 38: 1–8.
- Summers, K., Cronin, T.W. & Kennedy, T. 2003. Variation in spectral reflectance among populations of *Dendrobates pumilio*, the strawberry poison frog, in the Bocas del Toro Archipelago, Panama. J. Biogeogr. **30**: 35–53.
- Summers, K., Symula, R., Clough, M. & Cronin, T.W. 1999. Visual mate choice in poison frogs. *Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. B* **266**: 2141–5.
- Svensson, E.I., Eroukhmanoff, F., Karlsson, K., Runemark, A. & Brodin, A. 2010. A role for learning in population divergence of mate preferences. *Evolution* 64: 3101–3113.
- Teeter, K.C., Payseur, B.A., Harris, L.W., Bakewell, M.A., Thibodeau, L.M., O'Brien, J.E., *et al.* 2008. Genome-wide patterns of gene flow across a house mouse hybrid zone. *Genome Res.* 18: 67–76.
- Therneau, T.M. & Grambsch, P.M. 2000. The Cox model. In: *Modeling survival data: extending the Cox model*, pp. 39–77. Springer.
- Tinghitella, R.M., Lackey, A.C.R., Martin, M., Dijkstra, P.D., Drury, J.P., Heathcote, R., *et al.* 2017. On the role of male competition in speciation: A review and research agenda. *Behav. Ecol.* **29**: 783–797.
- Twomey, E., Vestergaard, J.S. & Summers, K. 2014. Reproductive isolation related to mimetic divergence in the poison frog Ranitomeya imitator. *Nat. Commun.* **5**: 4749.
- Twomey, E., Vestergaard, J.S., Venegas, P.J. & Summers, K. 2016. Mimetic Divergence and the Speciation Continuum in the Mimic Poison Frog Ranitomeya imitator. *Am. Nat.* **187**.
- Uy, J.A.C., Moyle, R.G., Filardi, C.E. & Cheviron, Z.A. 2009. Difference in Plumage Color Used in Species Recognition between Incipient Species Is Linked to a Single Amino Acid Substitution in the Melanocortin-1 Receptor. *Am. Nat.* **174**: 244–254.
- van Doorn, G.S., Dieckmann, U. & Weissing, F.J. 2004. Sympatric speciation by sexual selection: a critical reevaluation. *Am. Nat.* 163: 709–725.
- Venables, W.N. & Ripley, B.D. 2013. *Modern Applied Statistics with S-PLUS*. Springer Science & Business Media, New York.
- Verzijden, M.N., Korthof, R.E.M. & Ten Cate, C. 2008. Females learn from mothers and males learn from others. The effect of mother and siblings on the development of female mate preferences and male aggression biases in Lake Victoria cichlids, genus *Mbipia. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 62: 1359–1368.

- Verzijden, M.N., Lachlan, R.F. & Servedio, M.R. 2005. Female Mate-Choice Behavior and Sympatric Speciation. *Evolution* **59**: 2097–2108.
- Verzijden, M.N., ten Cate, C., Servedio, M.R., Kozak, G.M., Boughman, J.W. & Svensson, E.I. 2012. The impact of learning on sexual selection and speciation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 27: 511– 9.
- Verzijden, M.N., Zwinkels, J. & Ten Cate, C. 2009. Cross-fostering does not influence the mate preferences and territorial behaviour of males in Lake Victoria cichlids. *Ethology* 115: 39– 48.
- Wang, I.J. & Shaffer, H.B. 2008. Rapid color evolution in an aposematic species: a phylogenetic analysis of color variation in the strikingly polymorphic strawberry poison-dart frog. *Evolution* **62**: 2742–2759.
- Wang, I.J. & Summers, K. 2010. Genetic structure is correlated with phenotypic divergence rather than geographic isolation in the highly polymorphic strawberry poison-dart frog. *Mol. Ecol.* 19: 447–458.
- Wellenreuther, M., Svensson, E.I. & Hansson, B. 2014. Sexual selection and genetic colour polymorphisms in animals. *Mol. Ecol.* 23: 5398–5414.
- West-Eberhard, M.J. 1983. Sexual Selection, Social Competition, and Speciation. *Q. Rev. Biol.* **58**: 155–183.
- Weygoldt, P. 1980. Complex brood care and reproductive behaviour in captive poison-arrow frogs, *Dendrobates pumilio* O. Schmidt. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 7: 329–332.
- Wheeler, B. & Torchiano, M. 2010. ImPerm: Permutation tests for linear models. *R Packag. version* **1**.
- While, G.M., Michaelides, S., Heathcote, R.J.P., MacGregor, H.E. a., Zajac, N., Beninde, J., et al. 2015. Sexual selection drives asymmetric introgression in wall lizards. *Ecol. Lett.* 18: 1366– 1375.
- Willink, B., Bolaños, F. & Pröhl, H. 2013. Conspicuous displays in cryptic males of a polytypic poison-dart frog. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **68**: 249–261.
- Wolfram Research, I. 2018. Mathematica 11.1. Wolfram Research, Inc, Champaign, Illinois.
- Wong, B.M. & Candolin, U. 2005. How is female mate choice affected by male competition? *Biol. Rev.* **80**: 559–571.
- Yang, Y., Blomenkamp, S., Dugas, M.B., Richards-Zawacki, C.L. & Pröhl, H. 2019a. Mate Choice versus Mate Preference: Inferences about Color-Assortative Mating Differ between Field and Lab Assays of Poison Frog Behavior. Am. Nat. 193: 598–607.

Yang, Y., Dugas, M.B., Sudekum, H.J., Murphy, S. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2018. Male-male

aggression is unlikely to stabilize a poison frog polymorphism. J. Evol. Biol. 31: 457–468.

- Yang, Y., Richards-Zawacki, C.L., Devar, A. & Dugas, M.B. 2016. Poison frog color morphs express assortative mate preferences in allopatry but not sympatry. *Evolution* **70**: 2778–2788.
- Yang, Y., Servedio, M.R. & Richards-Zawacki, C.L. 2019b. Imprinting sets the stage for speciation. *Nature* 574: 99–102.
- Ydenberg, R.C., Giraldeau, L.-A. & Falls, J.B. 1988. Neighbours, strangers, and the asymmetric war of attrition. *Anim. Behav.* **36**: 343–347.
- Yeager, J.D. 2015. Causes and consequences of warning color variation in a polytypic poison frog. Tulane University.
- Yeh, D.J. & Servedio, M.R. 2015. Reproductive isolation with a learned trait in a structured population. *Evolution* **69**: 1938–1947.